

# TREATING GREYWATER FOR BUILDING-LEVEL REUSE: CERAMIC MEMBRANE BIOREACTORS

word count: 23,730

Loïc Ruiz Student ID: 01709551

Promotors: Prof. dr. ir. Di Wu, Prof. dr. ir. Jo De Vrieze Tutor: Dr. Seow Wah How

A dissertation submitted to Ghent University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of master in Bioscience Engineering.

Academic year: 2022 - 2023



De auteur en promotor geven de toelating deze scriptie voor consultatie beschikbaar te stellen en delen ervan te kopiëren voor persoonlijk gebruik. Elk ander gebruik valt onder de beperkingen van het auteursrecht, in het bijzonder met betrekking tot de verplichting uitdrukkelijk de bron te vermelden bij het aanhalen van resultaten uit deze scriptie.

The author and promoter give the permission to use this thesis for consultation and to copy parts of it for personal use. Every other use is subject to the copyright laws, more specifically the source must be extensively specified when using results from this thesis.

Gent, 23 August 2023

The promotors,

Wu Di

Prof. dr. ir. Di Wu

G

Prof. dr. ir. Jo De Vrieze

The tutor,

Vah How

The author,

Loic Ruiz

Loïc Ruiz

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my tutor, Seow Wah How, for his guidance, support, and insightful feedback throughout both the experimental and writing stages of completing this thesis. I am vastly thankful to my promotor, Prof. Di Wu, for giving me the opportunity to do my thesis research in his research group at the Ghent University Global Campus. His expertise has played a pivotal role in shaping the course of my research while appreciating my insights. I am also very thankful to my second promotor, Prof. Jo De Vrieze, for his profound insights, constructive critiques, and swift feedback. His expert knowledge has been instrumental in refining the quality of my work. I extend my appreciation to Dongha Kim for his contributions during his internship, where he provided considerate assistance in various laboratory tasks.

It would have been impossible to complete my studies and thesis without both the emotional and financial support of my parents, An and Pascal, and I will be forever grateful for their outstanding encouragement. Last but not least, I extend my appreciation to my dear friends for their encouragement, patience, and understanding throughout the years of my bioengineering education. Their belief in me has been a constant source of inspiration and motivation.

# CONTENTS

Ac	know	ledgements	i
Co	ntent	ts	iv
Ab	brevi	ations	vii
Ab	strac	t	ix
		-	
1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Water Scarcity: A Pressing Global Concern	1
	1.2	Driving Factors of Water Scarcity	2
		1.2.1 Increasing Demand for Fresh Water	2
		1.2.2 Availability of Natural Freshwater Resources	3
		1.2.3 Inadequate Water Management	3
	1.3	Decentralized Greywater Treatment for Reuse	4
		1.3.1 Source Separation of Domestic Wastewater	4
		1.3.2 Decentralized Treatment	5
		1.3.3 Implications of Decentralization	5
	1.4	Greywater	6
		1.4.1 Sources of Greywater	6
		1.4.2 Greywater Characteristics	7
		1.4.3 Non-Potable Reuse Applications	10
		1.4.4 Legislation & Standards for Greywater Recovery	12
		1.4.5 Treatment Technologies	13
	1.5	Membrane Bioreactors (MBRs).	15
		1.5.1 Working Principle	15
		1.5.2 Membrane Characteristics	18
		1.5.3 Membrane Fouling	20
		1.5.4 Operating Conditions	21
		1.5.5 Moving Bed MBRs	23
2	Obje	ectives and Hypotheses	25
3	Mat	erials and Methods	27
	3.1	Synthetic Greywater	27
	3.2	Experimental Set-up	27
	3.3	Optimization of Operating Conditions	29
	3.4	Nitrification Activity Batch Tests	30
	3. <del>-</del> 3.5	Water Quality Analysis Methods	31
	3.5	Data Processing	32
	37	Text Processing	32
	5.1		52

4	Resi	ilts	33			
	4.1	Characterization of Synthetic Greywater	33			
	4.2	Greywater Treatment Performance of MBR and MB-MBR	33			
		4.2.1 Temperature, pH and Dissolved Oxygen	33			
		4.2.2 Biomass Growth Analysis	35			
		4.2.3 Membrane Fouling Analysis	36			
		4.2.4 COD Removal	37			
		4.2.5 Nitrogen Removal	39			
	4.3	Nitrification Activity Batch Tests	45			
		4.3.1 Series A	45			
		4.3.2 Series B	48			
5	Disc	ussion	51			
	5.1	Nitrogen Balance in Samples	51			
	5.2	Membrane Fouling	52			
	5.3	Treatment Performance of MBR and MB-MBR	53			
	5.4	Nitrification Activity of the MBR Mixed Liquor	56			
	5.5	Comparison of MBR Effluent with Reuse Guidelines	58			
6	Con		61			
	6.1		61			
	6.2	Future perspectives	62			
Bibliography 63						
Ap	Appendix A Additional Table 8					

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

<b>BOD</b> <sub>5</sub>	5-day Biochemical Oxygen Demand.			
COD	Chemical Oxygen Demand.			
CW	Constructed Wetland.			
DO	Dissolved Oxygen.			
EPS	Extracellular Polymeric Substances.			
GW	Greywater.			
HRT	Hydraulic Retention Time.			
MB-MBR	Moving Bed Membrane Bioreactor.			
MBR	Membrane Bioreactor.			
ML	Mixed Liquor.			
MLSS	Mixed Liquor Suspended Solids.			
MLVSS	Mixed Liquor Volatile Suspended Solids.			
OLR	Organic Loading Rate.			
PCPs	Personal Care Products.			
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride.			
SAOR	Specific Ammonia Oxidation Rate.			
SRT	Solids Retention Time.			
SS	Suspended Solids.			
т	Temperature.			

- **TN** Total Nitrogen.
- **TOC** Total Organic Carbon.
- **TP** Total Phosphorus.
- **TSS** Total Suspended Solids.
- **VSS** Volatile Suspended Solids.

# ABSTRACT

# English

Natural water supplies are shrinking and becoming more uncertain, while the demand for fresh water is only expected to grow. Reducing the reliability of water supply from natural resources by reusing wastewater is one of the key developments towards a more water-resilient society. Greywater has a high potential for reuse due to its relatively low pollutant load. Decentralized greywater reclamation efficiently couples greywater production to local water demands. Membrane bioreactors (MBRs) emerge as a promising technology for this purpose, offering high effluent quality and a compact footprint. Within the scope of this thesis, conventional MBRs and a moving bed MBR (MB-MBR) treating synthetic greywater were optimized in terms of hydraulic residence time, aeration flow, and organic loading rate. The primary objective was to achieve a high-quality effluent, meeting standards for non-potable greywater reuse in terms of chemical oxygen demand (COD), inorganic nitrogen compounds, and total nitrogen (TN). The synthetic greywater had an average COD concentration of  $402\pm57$  mg/L and average ammonia and TN concentrations of  $15\pm3$  and  $25\pm5$ mg N/L. While standard MBRs struggled to adequately eliminate total nitrogen, the MB-MBR demonstrated success in this aspect due to enhanced denitrification within the biofilms on the carriers. The specific ammonia oxidation rate of the sludge ranged from 1.2 to 3.2 mg  $NH_4^+-N/(g$ VSS·h). In the optimized MB-MBR, the maximum effluent concentrations for COD, ammonia, nitrite, nitrate, and TN were 43 mg/L, 3 mg N/L, 0.5 mg N/L, 4 mg N/L, and 7 mg N/L, respectively.

# **Nederlands**

De bevoorrading van zoet water wordt steeds schaarser en onzekerder, terwijl de vraag volgens huidige voorspellingen zal blijven stijgen. Afvalwaterhergebruik is een belangrijke stap richting een duurzamere samenleving daar het de afhankelijkheid van natuurlijke waterbronnen reduceert. Grijswater in het bijzonder heeft een hoog potentieel voor hergebruik vanwege de lage verontreinigingsgraad. Gedecentraliseerde grijswaterzuivering koppelt de productie ervan efficiënt aan lokale waterbehoeften. Membraanbioreactoren (MBR's) zijn een veelbelovende technologie hiervoor door hun hoge effluentkwaliteit en compacte aard. Binnen het kader van deze scriptie werden conventionele MBR's en een bewegende bed MBR (MB-MBR) voor de behandeling van synthetisch grijswater geoptimaliseerd op het gebied van hydraulische verblijftijd, beluchtingsdebiet en organische belastingsgraad. Het hoofddoel was om een effluent van hoge kwaliteit te bereiken dat voldoet aan de normen voor niet-drinkbaar hergebruik van grijswater, wat betreft de chemische zuurstofvraag (CZV), anorganische stikstofverbindingen en totale stikstof (TN). Het synthetische grijswater had een gemiddelde CZV-concentratie van  $402\pm57$  mg/L en gemiddelde ammonium- en TN-concentraties van  $15\pm3$  en  $25\pm5$  mg N/L. De conventionele MBR's waren niet in staat om totale stikstof voldoende te verwijderen. De MB-MBR slaagde hier wel in vanwege optimale denitrificatie binnenin de biofilm op het dragermateriaal. De specifieke ammoniumoxidatiesnelheid van het slib varieerde tussen 1,2 en 3,2 mg NH\_4^+-N/(g VSS·h). In de geoptimaliseerde MB-MBR waren de maximale effluentconcentraties voor CZV, ammonium, nitriet, nitraat en TN respectievelijk 43 mg/L, 3 mg N/L, 0,5 mg N/L, 4 mg N/L en 7 mg N/L.

# Chapter 1

# INTRODUCTION

# 1.1 Water Scarcity: A Pressing Global Concern

Water scarcity is defined as the shortage of the available supply of freshwater towards the expressed demand for human use. It negatively impacts human health and well-being, agricultural yields, industrial productivity and environmental quality (Steduto et al.) 2012; Zhang et al.) 2019). Intraannual fluctuations in water demand and availability result in significant temporal disparities of water scarcity within a given year (Damkjaer & Taylor, 2017; Mekonnen & Hoekstra, 2016). Globally, about 3.6 billion people are currently confronted with severe water scarce living conditions for at least one month a year. By 2050, this number is estimated to increase to 5 billion people (WMO, 2022). Figure 1.1 demonstrates the geographical variation in the projected percentage of the population experiencing severe water scarcity during the driest month of 2050.



**Figure 1.1:** Projected percentage of the population facing severe water stress in the driest month of 2050 under a business-as-usual scenario. Retrieved from Burek et al. (2016).

Urban areas are particularly vulnerable towards water stress, because their high population densities generate a very spatially concentrated water demand. The supply of water becomes more difficult,

*i.e.*, it has to be sourced from further away, and an extensive infrastructure for distribution has to be expanded and maintained (Krueger et al.) 2019; Larsen & Gujer, 2013). Many of the current urban communities have not yet reached adequate resilience towards water scarcity issues (Zhang et al., 2019). The extent to which industry and agriculture are organized in or near urban areas play a very important role in this matter. Therefore, the appropriate allocation of water resources becomes very crucial in cities (Li et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2019).

Presently, there is a worldwide trend towards urbanization, with projections that indicate an increase of the proportion of the global population living in urban areas from 55% in 2020 to 68% in 2050. It is also estimated that almost half of the world's biggest cities (*i.e.*, with more than 1 million inhabitants) are expected to endure water scarce living conditions by 2050 (He et al., 2021). This emphasizes the urgent need to develop strategies and technologies geared towards addressing urban water scarcity. The alarming state of freshwater availability has even prompted the inclusion of "water resilience" as an important element of the United Nations Climate Change Conference in 2022 (UN, 2022).

# 1.2 Driving Factors of Water Scarcity

# 1.2.1 Increasing Demand for Fresh Water

The largest water consumption originates from agriculture, it represents almost 70% of global fresh water withdrawals. Energy generation and industrial manufacturing account for 19% and domestic water consumption is responsible for the remaining 12% globally. In some developing countries, however, agricultural water demand can account for up to 95% of their total national water withdrawals (Zhongming et al., 2021).

The global human population surpassed 8 billion people in 2022. By 2050, the world's population is expected to increase by nearly 2 billion (Zeifman et al.) 2022). Therefore, irrigated agricultural production will need to keep expanding to satisfy global alimentary demands. Moreover, the progression of socioeconomic factors, such as rising incomes, causes a dietary shift towards more animal-based and dairy products in many developing nations. The livestock and dairy production, necessary for such protein-rich diet, will require a significant larger amount water (Biswas & Tortajada, 2018; Jalava et al., 2014). Water consumption for agricultural purposes will increase globally due to a shift in both the quantity and quality of global food production. While agricultural water demand will keep growing, the growth rate is projected to decelerate, due to the enhanced effectiveness of irrigation systems and advancements in agricultural practices in general (FAO, 2017).

Economic growth and better living standards are expected to give rise to significant larger water requirements per capita globally (Biswas & Tortajada, 2018; Liu et al., 2017). Water demand from different industrial sectors, agricultural production and households will increase simultaneously, which inherently leads to competition between uses (Markosyan et al., 2021). This competition can become more intense during the dry and hot seasons. Water availability becomes limited, while the

demand increases for different purposes, such as irrigation, cooling and recreation (House-Peters & Chang, 2011).

# 1.2.2 Availability of Natural Freshwater Resources

The two main natural resources for fresh water are surface water, for example rivers and lakes, and groundwater. To a lesser extent, natural springs and seawater, after desalination, are employed as freshwater resources (CDC) 2022; Murray-Playfair, 2023; Schmitt & Mendret, 2022; VMM, 2019). Surface water and groundwater are largely fed by precipitation. The inter-annual variability of rainfall consequently translates into variability in river flow and the recharge of aquifers, both temporally and spatially. High water availability can for example coincide with the period of lowest water demand and vice-versa, with water shortages as a result (Green, 2016; Steduto et al.) 2012).

Timely replenishment of groundwater systems is necessary to avoid complete depletion. Excessive aquifer withdrawals are taking place globally, leading to a reduced availability of groundwater for consumptive uses. Reduced river flows and degraded groundwater quality arise from those unsustainable extractions as well, worsening natural water availability. About 30% of the world's largest groundwater systems are being exploited unsustainably (Fienen & Arshad, 2016; Zhongming et al., 2021).

Climate change is expected to alter the availability of natural freshwater resources on both a spatial and temporal scale. Temperatures are projected to increase in most part of the world, with complex effects on meteorological cycles. Extreme weather phenomena, such as droughts, will become more frequent and more severe (Cook et al.) 2018; UN, 2020). Moreover, average precipitation is expected to change in numerous regions, as well as the variability of rain events (Pendergrass et al.) 2017). As a result, river flows, runoff and the replenishment of aquifers will follow this variability (Kundzewicz et al.) 2008; World Bank, 2016). It is also anticipated that climate change will indirectly affect the quality of surface water and groundwater. Rainfall events after long periods of drought can carry significantly augmented pollution loads (Lee et al.) 2002). More intense evaporation will result in higher salinity levels of groundwater, deteriorating its quality for consumptive use (Barbieri et al.) 2021).

# 1.2.3 Inadequate Water Management

Water scarcity is often divided in physical and economic water scarcity. Physical water scarcity refers to the lack of freshwater to meet human and environmental demands simultaneously. Economic water scarcity is caused by the human insufficiency to meet local water demands, even though water is physically available. Insufficient water infrastructure development, often in arid regions, are an important factor to this, or water distribution may be inequitable where infrastructure actually does exist. Social discrimination can also attribute to economic water scarcity, when certain groups are favored by governments. Adequate water management is, thus, essential in securing urban fresh water supplies (Chakkaravarthy & Balakrishnan, 2019; Liu et al., 2017; Molden, 2007).

A circular water economy is the sustainable water management *par excellence*, as it optimizes water resources by maximizing wastewater recycling. The reuse of wastewater builds resilience against water shortages by reducing the dependency on natural water resources (Brears) 2020; Voulvoulis, 2018; Qadir et al., 2020). Unfortunately, urban water management is generally done in a linear scheme, starting with the extraction of fresh water from natural resources, such as rivers, lakes and aquifers. First, drinking water production facilities purify natural raw water (*e.g.*, surface water and groundwater) up to drinking water quality. This potable water is then used in numerous applications, ranging from drinking and showering to flushing of toilets. Hereafter, the wastewater is either discharged directly into surface water or sent to a wastewater treatment plant. The effluent from wastewater plants is most often discharged into surface water as well. Only in some cases, this effluent is directly reused or indirectly recovered by recharging of approximate aquifers (Jones et al., 2021).

# **1.3 Decentralized Greywater Treatment for Reuse**

Urban areas are, as mentioned before, particularly vulnerable to water shortages. The term "consumptive use of water" refers to the portion of withdrawn water that becomes unavailable for re-use, mainly due to processes like evapotranspiration, incorporation into products or direct drainage into the sea. Interestingly, domestic water usage has a minimal consumptive use, implying that the majority of the water is returned to the sewage system after being used. Thus, within the same location, wastewater is generated in comparable quantities to the demand for clean water (Steduto et al., 2012). This section discusses the potential of decentralized wastewater treatment in cities, coupled with the concept of source separation. In centralized wastewater treatment, all wastewater sources within a certain area are connected to a sewage grid an redirected to a centralized wastewater treatment plant. Decentralized wastewater treatment refers to installations that work on a smaller scale, such as a singular building or neighborhood, often with the perspective of wastewater reuse.

# 1.3.1 Source Separation of Domestic Wastewater

Wastewater treatment with the perspective of reuse can be optimized through source separation. Instead of bringing wastewater coming from different sources together, they are kept separate. When source separation is applied to domestic wastewater, generally separation is limited to two streams: blackwater and greywater. Blackwater refers to the wastewater coming from toilets, greywater is the remaining domestic wastewater. Greywater constitutes the largest volumetric fraction of domestic wastewater, generally around 60–70% (Lehtoranta et al., 2022; McConville et al., 2017; Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020).

By implementing source separation, the concentration of pollutants in blackwater can be effectively preserved, while the pollution levels in greywater are prevented from increasing. Water reuse efficiency is higher for slightly polluted water. Keeping greywater, which is much less polluted

than blackwater, separate expands the potential for water recovery. On the other hand, keeping contamination concentrated in the blackwater stream, enlarges the efficiency of energy and nutrient recovery (Skambraks et al., 2017).

Additionally, keeping blackwater separated from greywater avoids contamination of organic pollutants, pathogens and micropollutants, such as pharmaceuticals and hormones (Kujawa-Roeleveld & Zeeman, 2006). Wastewater that has been in contact with fecal matter has a lower potential for economic reuse, due to the low acceptance of the public (Otterpohl et al., 2002).

# 1.3.2 Decentralized Treatment

Urban wastewater management is, generally, done in a centralized way. Domestic wastewater is collected in an extensive sewage network to be sent to a central wastewater treatment facility. The implementation of source separation onto an existing centralized system would require major investments and substantial road works. Hence, source separation is often applied simultaneously with decentralization of wastewater treatment (Jeong et al.) [2018; Larsen & Gujer, [2013]).

Another important advantage of treating greywater (or wastewater in general) in a decentralized manner is that reclamation of clean water occurs near the point of wastewater generation. Transport of water is minimized, which limits water and energy losses over pipelines. It is estimated that decentralized greywater reuse facilities have potentially a lower energy demand (between 0.246–0.970 kWh/m<sup>3</sup> wastewater) than centralized systems (between 1.224–1.914 kWh/m<sup>3</sup> wastewater). Greenhouse gas emissions are also estimated to be lower for decentralized (0.72–0.83 kg  $CO_2e/m^3$ ) plants, compared to centralized plants (0–0.33 kg  $CO_2e/m^3$ ) (Chang et al., 2017). Decentralized infrastructures are often modular systems, which can be more effective in adapting to possible needs for changes in scale. The functionality of buildings and population density change quite often in urban settings, making the flexibility of decentralized systems a supplementary appealing quality (Hoffmann et al., 2020; UN, 2017).

# 1.3.3 Implications of Decentralization

There are some implications of the decentralized treatment of greywater that should be taken into account during planning. As in centralized treatment facilities, personnel with a certain level of expertise is required for operation and maintenance of the system. Decentralized installations are more abundant and dispersed, thus, adequate organization is necessary to operate all (UN, 2017).

It is crucial to examine the extent of decentralization when considering a greywater system. The decision regarding the scale of the system can have a substantial impact on the financial viability of the installation, primarily due to economies of scale. The size of the pipeline network, as well as the construction and operation of the treatment plant, all contribute to determining the ultimate cost-effectiveness. Besides from the economic perspective, environmental aspects should also be considered when deliberating on the appropriate scale. A larger scale will average out fluctuations

in flow and quality of the influent, which can be beneficial for the system's removal performance. The trade-off between different scales should be thoroughly evaluated (Kobayashi et al.), 2020).

The implementation of decentralized greywater treatment has the potential to impact the performance of existing centralized wastewater treatment plants by altering both quality and quantity of the influent. The aeration needs of an activated sludge basin depends on the organic carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus load of the influent. Aeration may need to be adjusted in the centralized plant, depending on the degree of decentralization and source separation. The change in influent characteristics can also negatively affect denitrification within the centralized plant, due to insufficient organic carbon levels in the wastewater (Kobayashi et al., 2020; Morandi & Steinmetz, 2019; Sapkota et al., 2015).

# 1.4 Greywater

Domestic wastewater is divided into blackwater and greywater. As mentioned in Section 1.3.1, greywater is particularly interesting in the context of wastewater reuse, because of its quantitative and qualitative characteristics. Greywater contains only one-third of the total organic content and one-tenth of the total nitrogen content found in the total domestic wastewater stream (Kadewa et al., 2020; Oron et al., 2014). This chapter will discuss the characteristics of greywater, its possible reuse applications, the current legislation concerning greywater reuse, and the most relevant treatment technologies.

# 1.4.1 Sources of Greywater

All domestic wastewater streams, with the exception of toilet flushing water, are considered to be greywater. Important greywater sources are showers, washbasins, bathtubs, laundry machines, dishwashers, and kitchen sinks. Greywater is often further divided into light and dark greywater, depending on the contaminant concentration. Light greywater is less polluted and contains greywater coming from, *e.g.*, bathtubs and showers. Dark greywater has higher pollutant concentrations and includes wastewater from laundry activities and the kitchen. The attribution of greywater source streams to light or dark greywater varies between authors (Alsulaili & Hamoda, 2015; Khanam & Patidar, 2022). Some even completely exclude kitchen wastewater from the definition of greywater (Tilve, 2014). Total greywater or mixed greywater refers to all the greywater steams combined.

On average, nearly half of the mixed greywater flow in a household originates from the bathroom, including showers, baths, and washbasins. Kitchen wastewater, including the dishwasher and kitchen sink, and laundry wastewater each represent about a quarter of the total greywater flow (Ghaitidak & Yadav, 2013; Gross et al., 2015). Domestic greywater production varies considerably between households, from as low as 15 to 200 liters per day per capita. On average, the range of daily greywater generation is 30–165 L per capita for low-income countries and 88–200 L per capita for high-income countries (Khanam & Patidar, 2022; Oteng-Peprah et al., 2018a). The main

factors influencing the amount of greywater produced are natural freshwater availability (see Section 1.2.2), water infrastructure services, financial resources, and water use habits (Gross et al., 2015). Greywater generation follows a diurnal-temporal pattern. During the weekdays, two main peak moments are generally observed: a morning peak between 7:00 and 9:30 and an evening peak between 17:30 and 20:00. In some cases, additional significant flows around noon were observed, suggesting that those people were home for lunch (Birks & Hills, 2007; Eriksson et al., 2009; Gurung et al., 2015; Palmquist & Hanæus, 2005). On weekends, a delay in greywater discharge is observed. One large peak in the afternoon until the evening (14:00–22:00) (Alfiya et al., 2018).

Every greywater source delivers specific constituents to the mixed flow. Bathroom greywater flows consist of soaps, toothpaste, body care products, hairs, skin cells, body fats, sand and clay particles, and microplastics (Noah, 2002; Ziemba et al., 2018). More detrimental pollution can occur in this greywater stream, due to improper user behavior like the disposal of harmful substances (e.g., paints, pesticides, bleach) or the washing of domestic pets (Shaikh & Ahammed, (2020). Wastewater from the kitchen and laundry machines is generally the main contributor to organic carbon and suspended solids in the total domestic greywater flow. Greywater coming from laundry machines consists of chemicals from detergents, solvents, bleaches, paints, oils, fibers, and microplastics from clothing (Noutsopoulos et al., 2018). Kitchen wastewater contains dishwashing detergents, food residue, raw meat washing water, traces of food preservatives, and sand and clay particles (Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020). The contamination of kitchen wastewater is significantly lower when solid kitchen waste is sorted separately for composting rather than being discarded into the sink, often accompanied by a kitchen blender (Kujawa-Roeleveld & Zeeman, 2006). The type of greywater sources contributing to the total greywater flow depends on the function of a building. Different greywater source flows are present in non-residential buildings such as office buildings, schools, or public showers (Gross et al., 2015). Moreover, greywater flows can be kept separated within a building. Treating only light greywater instead of mixed greywater could increase the economic feasibility of a greywater reuse project (Leiva et al., 2021).

# 1.4.2 Greywater Characteristics

#### **Physical Characteristics**

Greywater is often warmer than tap water, due to the need for warm water in activities, such as laundry, washing, and cooking. Consequently, the temperature of greywater generally ranges from 18 °C to 35 °C (Oteng-Peprah et al., 2018a). Regardless of the specific source (*e.g.*, bathroom, kitchen), greywater tends to have a similar average temperature, indicating that the relative contribution of each source does not strongly affect the overall temperature of mixed greywater (Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020). The temperature of greywater exhibits a similar daily pattern as the generated volume of greywater, as fresh greywater enters at a higher temperature (Birks & Hills, 2007). The elevated temperatures of greywater encourage microbiological activity, while simultaneously reducing the solubility of calcium carbonate. This reduction in solubility can result in the undesired

precipitation of calcium carbonate in either the greywater storage tank or the pipelines (Khajvand et al., 2022; Olanrewaju & llemobade, 2015).

The concentration of total suspended solids can become quite high in greywater (see Table 1.1). Turbidity, as well as suspended solids concentrations, are generally highest in kitchen and laundry greywater. Sources of suspended solids come from fabric fibers, zeolites from detergents, food residuals, and sand from the washing and rinsing of vegetables (Antonopoulou et al., 2013; Bakare et al., 2017; Khajvand et al., 2022; Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020).

**Table 1.1:** Range of physical, chemical, and biological characteristics of mixed greywater. (TSS = total suspended solids,  $BOD_5 = 5$  day biological oxygen demand, COD = chemical oxygen demand, TN = total nitrogen, TP = total phosphorus). Adapted from Khanam & Patidar (2022) and Oteng-Peprah et al. (2018a).

Parameter		Range in GW		
Physical characteristics				
Temperature	°C	18 – 35		
Turbidity	NTU	21 - 4400		
TSS	mg/L	12 - 4250		
Chemical characteristics				
рH		5 - 9.7		
BOD <sub>5</sub>	mg/L	18 - 1395		
COD	mg/L	24 - 6563		
TN	mg N/L	9 - 58		
Ammonia-N	mg N/L	0.8 - 75		
Nitrate	mg $NO_3^-/L$	0.1 - 14		
TP	mg N/L	0.4 - 20		
Phosphate	mg $PO_4^{3-}/L$	1 – 23		
Microbiological characteristics				
Fecal coliforms	CFU/100 mL	$3.57 \times 10^3 - 150 \times 10^6$		

# **Chemical Characteristics**

The pH of greywater generally ranges from 5 to 9 (Table 1.1), and is influenced by chemicals, such as fabric softeners, bleaching agents, and disinfectants. Laundry-associated detergents tend to give rise to high alkalinity. Greywater, comprising of relatively high amounts of laundry wastewater, will exhibit a higher pH (Rakesh et al., 2020).

The organic content is highly variable in greywater, as can be seen in Table 1.1. Average COD concentrations are much higher in laundry and kitchen wastewater (594 and 780 mg/L, respectively)

than bathroom greywater (121 mg/L) (Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020). This is due to high detergent use in dishwashing and laundry activities and residuals of food and drinks with fat and oil in kitchen wastewater (Ghaitidak & Yadav, 2013). The COD/BOD ratio gives an idea of how biodegradable wastewater is. Greywater with a COD/BOD ratio below 2.5 is relatively easy to biodegrade (Li et al., 2009). Laundry and kitchen greywater are generally easily biodegradable, with average COD/BOD ratios of 1.79 and 1.71, respectively. The average COD/BOD ratios of bathroom and hand basin greywater are higher, 2.03 and 2.81, respectively (Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020). The concentration of surfactants, or surface-active agents, is elevated in greywater compared to mixed domestic wastewater (Oron et al., 2014). Laundry and kitchen wastewater generally have the highest surfactant concentrations (Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020). Surfactants negatively affect the biodegradability of greywater, and have toxic impacts on the environment and human health (Khalil & Liu, 2021; O'Toole et al., 2012). High oil and grease content in greywater may impair biological treatment as well (Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020).

Greywater is responsible for only 3% of the nitrogen load in domestic wastewater, where urine and feces make up 97% of the nitrogen (Otterpohl, 2002). The main source of nitrogen in greywater is food residue; other important sources are protein-containing shampoos, household products containing ammonia, and, in some cases, urine. Nitrogen in wastewater is present as either organic or inorganic nitrogen (Figure 1.2). The inorganic forms include ammonia, nitrite, and nitrate. The predominant form of nitrogen in greywater is organically bonded nitrogen (Leal et al., 2010; Pradhan et al., 2019). Forms of organic nitrogen include amino sugars and proteins and are present either in a dissolved state or as a component of particulate matter. Ammonia concentrations in greywater generally range from 0 to 16.3 mg N/L, and in some cases, up to 41.2 mg N/L (Deng et al., 2020; Khanam & Patidar, 2022). In some cases, bathroom greywater contains particularly high concentrations of ammonia. The habit of some people of urinating in the shower is the suspected reason for this, since urine is quickly converted to ammonia (do Couto) et al., 2013). The levels of nitrite and nitrate in greywater are typically in the same range as those found in tap water, *i.e.*, below or around 1 mg N/L. This suggests that the nitrite and nitrate in greywater primarily come from the existing nitrite and nitrate present in the tap water itself (Bodnar et al., 2014; Eriksson et al., 2009; He et al., 2022).



Figure 1.2: Nitrogen forms in wastewater.

Phosphorus content is highest in greywater coming from laundry and kitchen wastewater (Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020). Some countries installed bans on phosphate-containing detergents, which reduced the amount of phosphorus in domestic wastewater (Kasak et al., 2011).

### **Microbial Characteristics**

Different microorganisms can be present in greywater, including bacteria, helminths, and protozoa. The main sources of these microorganisms are bathing and showering, childcare, hand washing after toilet use, washing diapers, and rinsing raw meat and vegetables (Khajvand et al.) 2022; Oteng-Peprah et al., 2018b). Coliforms are frequently found in greywater, representing fecal contamination. Other pathogenic bacteria that have been observed in greywater include *Pseudomonas, Legionella, Escherichia coli*, and *Campylobacter* (Rakesh et al., 2020). Limiting stagnation of untreated greywater and disinfection (*e.g.*, through chlorination) before reuse are essential to minimize the spread of pathogens and human infection (Blanky et al.) 2017; Dixon et al., 2000).

# 1.4.3 Non-Potable Reuse Applications

Reuse of treated greywater can be subdivided into three types: direct potable, indirect potable, and non-potable reuse (Capodaglio) 2021). The first type includes applications where potable fresh water is necessary, like showering (due to the high chance of oral intake) or kitchen tap water. The treated greywater is directly linked to a distribution pipe or tap. Therefore, greywater purification for direct potable reuse has the strictest quality requirements. Indirect potable reuse refers to the discharge of treated greywater into a water body or groundwater infiltration that supplies a water purification plant that produces drinking water. The intermediate water reservoir assures an extra safety margin through dilution and possible natural remediation processes. Non-potable reuse of greywater is most widely implemented. This includes domestic, urban, industrial, and agricultural applications, as well as the recharge of water bodies that are not targeted for potable water supply (Capodaglio, 2021). The success of greywater reuse applications, especially for direct or indirect potable reuse, is influenced by the public's acceptance of this (Al-Khatib et al., 2022) Thaher et al., 2020).

Greywater, used for reclamation, usually excludes the kitchen greywater, as it poses a higher pathogenic risk and contains a higher contamination level of chemical and grease.

#### **Toilet Flushing**

The use of treated greywater for toilet flushing has been done since the 1990s (Jeppesen, 1996; Nolde, 2000). It is the most common application for greywater reuse, and can reduce domestic water use by 30% (Mahmoudi et al., 2021). Toilet flushing is a very interesting application for reclaimed greywater, because quality requirements are less strict and toilets are generally located near the greywater source. Important quality parameters are surfactant content, odor, color, and

factors influencing microbial growth (Zhu et al., 2018). High surfactant levels in toilet flushing water cause foaming during flushing. Toilet flushing creates an aerosol spray that can accommodate the spread of pathogens (Hamilton et al., 2018).

In the context of saving water, vacuum toilets are on the rise. They use only 0.5–1.2 L per flush, a significant difference from the 5–9 L per flush of a regular toilet (Gao et al.) 2019). In certain cases, greywater production might exceed the water demand for toilet flushing by a great extent (Zadeh et al., 2013). In such situations, it becomes interesting to explore alternative applications for utilizing the excess greywater for non-potable reuse purposes.

# Irrigation

Irrigation of green spaces is another common greywater reuse application. Greywater can be used for irrigation of urban parks, sports fields, green roofs, or even agricultural crops (Mahmoudi et al., 2021). In certain urban areas, irrigation of lawn and turf grass causes the largest water demands. This becomes particularly important during the summer months in arid and semi-arid regions (Capodaglio, 2021). Irrigating green spaces can reduce the potable water demand by up to 50% (Mahmoudi et al., 2021). Next to irrigation, the greywater can be a source of nutrients for the plants, depending on the degree of greywater purification. This combined effect of irrigation and fertilization is termed fertigation (Capodaglio, 2021) Ramey et al., 2017), but the fertilizing potential of greywater might be low because of the limited nutrient content (Finley et al., 2009).

Eutrophication of the environment is an important risk related to irrigation with greywater. Extensive knowledge of the greywater quality and the nutrient requirements of the plants and soil is essential to limiting this (Filali et al., 2022). Soil properties can also be negatively affected by greywater, such as an increase in the alkalinity, hardness, and salinity of the soil and making it water repellent, due to the accumulation of surfactants (Wiel-Shafran et al., 2006). The use of reclaimed greywater for irrigation of agricultural crops already takes place in some developed and developing countries around the world (Radingoana et al., 2020). Human health risks arise when greywater is used for irrigation of agricultural crops or lawns with unrestricted human access, depending on the quality of the greywater. Treatment against pathogenic microorganisms and the removal of chemical contaminants have become essential (Schoen et al., 2017) Sheikh et al., 2018). Limiting greywater reuse to crops where the water does not have to come into contact with the plant, such as vineyards and certain orchards, can help mitigate human health risks. Crops that undergo disinfection during food processing also mitigate the pathogenic hazard of irrigation with greywater (Sheikh et al., 2018).

In some countries, untreated greywater is used for garden irrigation, mainly due to financial reasons (McIlwaine & Redwood, 2010). Irrigational use of untreated greywater is not recommended, because of the risks it may pose to human health and the environment (Maimon et al., 2010).

# **Other Greywater Applications**

Greywater reuse can be extended to various non-potable applications, including car and road washing, fire extinction, and ornamental uses (*e.g.*, in fountains, waterfalls, and ponds) (Mahmoudi et al., 2021). Local water needs should be investigated and coupled with the production of greywater *in situ*. When the demand for water is low or scarce in the area, the valorization of treated greywater can always be maximized through infiltration for groundwater recharge (Alcalde-Sanz & Gawlik, 2017).

# 1.4.4 Legislation & Standards for Greywater Recovery

International greywater reuse guidelines have not yet been established. Instead, many countries have relied on general wastewater reuse guidelines for the reuse of greywater (Yoonus & Al-Ghamdi, (2020). These guidelines, which were primarily designed for agricultural or urban irrigation purposes, have been implemented in both developed nations such as Australia, Germany, Japan, and the UK, as well as in developing nations like Jordan and Tunisia. During the drafting of the guidelines for greywater irrigation, the primary focus was placed on human health rather than environmental protection (Maimon et al., 2010). Some countries have established specific limit values for other types of greywater or wastewater reuse, such as toilet flushing (Filali et al., 2022). The European Union released a framework outlining quality requirements for the practice of water reuse in agricultural irrigation and aquifer recharge (Alcalde-Sanz & Gawlik, 2017). The responsibility lies with individual member states to further outline these guidelines to a finer degree. The Italian guidelines for wastewater reuse stand out as some of the most comprehensive in existing literature (Reynaert et al., 2020). For this reason, they are included as European examples in Table 1.2. In Flanders, the government is currently in the process of formulating guidelines to provide a legal framework for the utilization of wastewater for agricultural irrigation as well as other irrigation purposes (Van Gils et al., 2023).

Adherence to these standards does not necessarily guarantee the safety of reclaimed water for reuse. The existing guidelines and regulations for greywater reuse only consider a limited number of parameters. A selection of parameters, included in some guidelines for greywater reuse, are listed in Table 1.2. This raises the question of whether contaminants of emerging concern should be incorporated into these guidelines. Currently, even the most stringent drinking water and wastewater regulations often fail to address these emerging contaminants (Capodaglio, 2021) Khajvand et al., 2022).

Greywater reuse is often not encouraged and, in some cases, even discouraged, due to the complex application procedures required to obtain a permit. However, administrative mechanisms play an important role in ensuring maximal protection of human health and the environment (Vuppaladadiyam et al., 2019).

		ISO 30500	Italy	China	South Africa
Reuse purpose		UR	Toilet flushing	Toilet flushing	Toilet flushing
pН		6 – 9	6 - 9.5	6 - 9	6 - 9
Turbidity	NTU			≤ 5	<b>≤</b> 10 (5*)
TSS	mg/L	≤ 10	≤ 10	≤ 1500	<b>≤</b> 30 (10*)
COD	mg/L	≤ 50	≤ 100		50*
BOD <sub>5</sub>	mg/L		≤ 20	≤ 10	<b>≤</b> 20 (5*)
ТОС	mg C/L			≤ 10	<b>≤</b> 20 (5*)
ΤN	mg N/L		≤ 15		
TN removal	%	≥ 70			
Ammonia	mg N/L		≤ 1.6	≤ 7.8	
ТР	mg P/L		≤ 0.2		
TP removal	%	≥ 80			
Total coliforms	CFU/100 mL			≤ 0.3	
E. coli	CFU/100 mL	≤ 1	≤ 100**		≤ 10 (1*)

**Table 1.2:** Guidelines on water quality parameters for wastewater reuse in different countries. Adapted from Reynaert et al.] (2020). (UR = Unrestricted Reuse)

\* (Additional) guideline for the average concentration; \*\* 80% of samples should be  $\leq$  10 CFU/100 mL.

# 1.4.5 Treatment Technologies

Different treatment systems exist to purify greywater. Financial cost, environmental impact, public perception, and the desired effluent quality have to be taken into consideration during the selection of an appropriate treatment system. The required effluent quality varies depending on the type of greywater reuse and the applicable legislation. To reduce cost and energy consumption, greywater should only be treated to the necessary quality. This principle, known as fit-for-purpose treatment, plays a crucial role in sustainable water management. Overtreatment of greywater can lead to increased costs without additional benefits, thereby discouraging the implementation of greywater reuse systems (Capodaglio, 2021; Schimmoller & Kealy, 2014). On the other hand, regulations are becoming progressively stricter, requiring treatment technologies to continually meet stringent effluent quality norms. To fulfill these requirements, a combination of various technologies, along with disinfection techniques, may be necessary (He et al., 2022; Oh et al., 2018). This section provides a brief overview of some commonly employed techniques for greywater treatment.

# **Physical Treatment Systems**

Filtration is often only used as a pre- or post-treatment step rather than as the whole greywater treatment, because it does not remove surfactants and nutrients very well. The performance of a filtration system is dependent on the particle size distribution of greywater and the porosity of the filter. A smaller porosity of the filter generally leads to better effluent quality (Albalawneh & Chang),

2015). Various filtration systems exist: mulch systems, sand bed filters, and membrane filters. The treatment performance of mulch and sand filters is limited, with only 25–30% of COD and little coliform removal (Chaillou et al., 2011; Zuma et al., 2009). Intermittent feeding of greywater on sand filters causes the formation of a biologically active top layer. These systems obtain higher COD removal (up to 80%) due to the combination of biological and physical treatment processes (Ghaitidak & Yadav, 2013).

Adsorption of organics and other components from greywater is another type of physical treatment. Frequently used sorbents are activated carbon, natural zeolite, and iron (nano zero-valent) (He et al., 2022). As with filtration, biological processes can be integrated into the physical treatment of adsorption. Biologically activated carbon promotes the growth of microorganisms on the filter bed. These microorganisms will enhance the removal and biological degradation of pollutants present in the greywater. Adsorption is a great complementary post-treatment technique in greywater treatment for greywater sources with highly variable flows and organic concentrations (Hess & Morgenroth, 2021).

# **Chemical Treatment Systems**

Different chemical treatment technologies have been developed for the treatment of greywater, including precipitation, coagulation, (advanced) oxidation processes, electrolysis, and ion exchange techniques (Awasthi et al., 2023; He et al., 2022; Maimon & Gross, 2018). These chemical processes may be sufficient for the treatment of low-strength reuse, but are most often not suitable as standalone treatment techniques for higher-strength greywater (Li et al., 2009). Stringent guidelines for reuse are not met through chemical treatment solutions, due to the recalcitrant nature of a portion of the greywater (Pidou et al., 2008).

#### **Biological Treatment Systems**

Constructed wetlands (CWs) have been gaining attention as a treatment technique for domestic wastewater, because of their cost-effectiveness and limited environmental impact (Sijimol & Joseph, 2021). Constructed wetlands are engineered in a way to effectively utilize the natural processes of a wetland system, comprising its vegetation, soil, and associated microbial communities (Mueller et al., 2003). Appropriate selection of plant species, substrate material, hydraulic retention time, and greywater flow regime through the system are important factors in a CW, influencing the pollutant removal efficiency. A combination of physical (sedimentation and filtration), chemical (reaction and adsorption), and biological processes (microbial assimilation) takes place in the constructed wetland system and provides good removal of organics and suspended material (Vymazal, 2010). The removal of nitrogen and phosphorus in CWs remains poor. The CWs are a simple technique that requires little expertise for operation and maintenance (Singh et al., 2018). Sufficient surface area is required for constructed wetlands, especially in colder climates, which makes it a less suitable technology for urban areas where space is limited. Examples of space-saving alternatives to constructed wetlands for urban areas are green walls and green roofs. As in CWs, nutrient removal remains an obstacle in these natural systems (Addo-Bankas et al., 2021). Rather than being used solely as a treatment technique, green walls and roofs can utilize greywater as a source of water (and to a certain extent of nutrients), as discussed in Section 1.4.3. Drainage water from these green infrastructures may not always be of high quality, but this is of less importance since the greywater has already been utilized at this point.

Physical treatment processes are usually only implemented as a post-treatment step (Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020), and chemical treatment processes are often not enough to meet guidelines for non-potable reuse, especially for high-strength greywater (Li et al., 2009). Constructed wetlands can, in combination with physical and/or chemical treatment, obtain great greywater treatment efficiencies, but lack in the removal of nutrients. Biological treatment systems can help overcome the limitations of the previously mentioned technologies. Biological greywater treatment of greywater is favored in certain cases, but its application is often limited, due to inadequate surfactant removal and the emission of methane. Aerobic systems are most often applied for greywater treatment. Some examples are rotating biological contactors (RBC), sequencing batch reactors (SBR), moving bed biofilm reactors (MBBR), and membrane bioreactors (MBR) (Khalil & Liu, 2021).

The most promising biological treatment systems are membrane-based bioreactors. It is a very compact technology because the need for a post-treatment filtration step is eliminated. The reduced footprint of MBRs is especially advantageous in cities, where space is limited. With the development of new membrane materials, membrane systems are becoming more and more economically viable while efficiently achieving non-potable reuse guidelines (Albalawneh & Chang, 2015; Wu, 2019; Zhu et al., 2018).

# 1.5 Membrane Bioreactors (MBRs)

# 1.5.1 Working Principle

Wastewater treatment within membrane bioreactors (MBRs), similarly to conventional activated sludge (CAS) plants, takes place in a bioreactor containing microorganisms. The difference between MBRs and CAS lays in the liquid-solid separation. In MBRs, separation of the effluent from the mixed liquor occurs via pressure-driven membrane filtration.

# **Biological Treatment Processes**

Biological wastewater treatment is effectuated by a variety of microorganisms, the activated sludge, which ensure pollutant removal through biodegradation. The microbial community in bioreactors is strongly determined by the influent characteristics (Miura et al., 2007). Breakdown of organics, nitrogen and other pollutants is accomplished through their consumption by specific microorganisms. Organic carbon in wastewater is primarily consumed by aerobic heterotrophic bacteria that

transform organic matter through their aerobic metabolism into new biomass, carbon dioxide, water and minerals (Rabaey, 2019). Nitrogen removal from wastewater mainly occurs through autotrophic nitrification, followed by heterotrophic denitrification. Autotrophic nitrification is twostep aerobic process where ammonia is converted to nitrate. First, ammonia is oxidized to nitrite by chemolithoautotrophic ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB). Nitrosomonas and Nitrosospira are the dominant groups of AOB in wastewater sludge (van Loosdrecht & Jetten, 1998). Ammonia oxidation is the rate-limiting step of nitrification (Li et al., 2019). Subsequently, nitrite is oxidized to nitrate by nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB). Examples of NOB in wastewater are Nitrobacter and Nitrospira. The nitrifiers are slow growers because the oxidation of inorganic material is less energy efficient than the oxidation of organic carbon sources. They are also more sensitive to toxic compounds (Liu, 2008). The range of specific ammonia oxidation rates (SAOR) found in the literature for aerated MBRs is 0.51–18.75 mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>/g SS·h (Dytczak et al., 2008; Li et al., 2006; Scheumann & Kraume, 2009). Denitrification is the reduction of nitrate towards nitrogen gas. This conversion necessitates anoxic conditions, where the dissolved oxygen concentration is very low, and the presence of an electron donor (e.g., organic carbon) (van Loosdrecht & Jetten, [1998]). Different heterotrophic bacteria are involved in denitrification in wastewater, mainly facultative aerobes, like certain Pseudomonas and Alcaligenes species (Liu, 2008; Rabaey, 2019).

To obtain good removal of nitrogen, the bioreactor often consists of an anoxic zone for denitrification, followed by an aerobic zone where ammonia is oxidized. Recirculation back to the anoxic tank ensures adequate nitrification-denitrification (Phan et al., 2014). Denitrification also occurs to a limited extent within the aerated tank. The inner zones of granular flocs are anoxic due to diffusion limitations for dissolved oxygen (Layer et al., 2020). Denitrification can be further enhanced in the aerated tank by introducing a support material for biofilm attachment into the reactor (Ivanovic & Leiknes, 2012). Within well-established biofilms, anoxic zones arise in the inner regions, providing the essential environment for denitrification (Leyva-Díaz et al., 2015). This can eliminate the need for an anoxic tank for denitrification (Ivanovic & Leiknes, 2012). More detailed explanations on this will follow in Section 1.5.5.

#### **Membrane Separation**

Membrane bioreactors are operated in either a side-stream or submerged membrane configuration. In the side-stream configuration, the membrane modules are placed external to the bioreactor. Mixed liquor is pumped in cross-flow (*i.e.*, tangential to the membrane surface) and concentrated retentate is subsequently returned to the bioreactor (Figure 1.3). The tangential flow hydrody-namically promotes fouling control (Rahman et al., 2023). In submerged MBRs, the membrane module can either be integrated within the bioreactor or is placed in a separate tank containing mixed liquor. The submerged configuration corresponds with dead-end filtration, where all the feed passes through the membrane. Fouling is more problematic with dead-end filtration. Because of this, the membrane modules are aerated with (coarse) bubbles, to creates a sheer stress that displaces the accumulated fouling layer (Galinha et al., 2018). Submerged MBRs require less power per volume of wastewater treated, but need a larger membrane area. This type is MBR

is compatible with lower strength wastewater with good filterability (Visvanathan, 2009), such as greywater.



**Figure 1.3:** Membrane bioreactor configurations: the side-stream membrane module with crossflow filtration (left) and the submerged membrane module, integrated within the bioreactor, with dead-end filtration (right). Retrieved from Galinha et al. (2018).

The MBRs, in the context of wastewater treatment, are commonly operated in either a hollow fiber, flat sheet or tubular membrane module (Figure 1.4) (Krzeminski et al., 2012). The hollow fiber configuration makes use of many vertically placed membrane tubes, the hollow fibers. Feed water flows across the membranes to the inside of the individual fibers. The permeate is collected from the fiber ends and brought outside the tank. The fibers are typically attached to a frame with some flexibility to enable lateral movement, in the flow of the air bubbles (Judd, 2021a). Hollow fiber membranes are able to handle high crossflow velocities, making them well-suited for cross-flow MBR wastewater treatment (Asif & Zhang, 2021). Fouling can become problematic with hollow fiber membranes in submerged MBRs, due to biofilm formation on the membranes (Shi et al., 2022). The flat sheet module consists of multiple hollow membrane panels, usually with a rectangular geometry. The panels comprise of the membrane, a thin spacer, a rigid plastic backing plate and an empty internal space. Water flow through the panel is from outside to the internal space and is collected from an outlet tube (Judd, 2023). Flat sheet membranes are mostly used in submerged MBRs, where it is relatively easy to clean (via air sparging) and replace them (Asif & Zhang, 2021). Tubular membrane modules are used for side-stream MBR configurations. A module consists of a group of tubes, housed in a cylindrical casing. The water flows from the module casing into the membrane tubes (Judd, 2021b).

#### Implications of MBRs for Greywater Treatment

In the context of the decentralized treatment of greywater for reuse, MBRs offer two important advantages: a high quality effluent and a low space footprint. The MBRs obtain a higher quality effluent compared to CAS plants, because of their higher mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) concentrations. This also promotes the development of the slow growing nitrifiers, enhancing ammonia removal (Judd, 2008). The MLSS concentrations in MBRs are generally between 10 and 20 g/L, while CAS plants operate at around 4 g/L. For greywater treatment, however, high treatment efficiencies can be achieved at lower MLSS, due to the relatively low organic load of



**Figure 1.4:** Membrane module types: flat sheet (A), tubular (B) and hollow fiber (C). Adapted from Warsinger et al. (2018).

greywater (Liberman et al., 2016). The membranes filter out the particles bigger than their pore size, such as bacteria and most suspended solids, further enhancing effluent quality (Cecconet et al., 2019; Fikri et al., 2023). Space footprint is largely reduced in MBRs compared to CAS systems, because the need for a sedimentation tank is omitted. Furthermore, the higher MLSS concentrations in MBRs enable a size reduction of the reactor itself (Judd, 2008).

# 1.5.2 Membrane Characteristics

### Pore Size

Based on the transport mechanism through the membrane, membranes used in wastewater treatment can be classified into two groups: porous and non-porous membranes. Non-porous (or dense) membranes rely on differences in solubility and diffusivity of analytes in the membrane and require high operating pressures (> 1000 kPa). These mechanisms are used in tight end nanofiltration (NF) and reverse osmosis (RO) membranes (Shirazi et al., 2010). In porous membranes, separation occurs through sieving, straining or size exclusion (Shirazi et al., 2010), resulting in much lower operating pressures (10–1000 kPa). Examples of porous membranes are microfiltration (MF), ultrafiltration (UF) and loose end NF membranes, ordered with decreasing pore size. Microfilters have a pore size larger than 50-100 nm and filter out bacteria, suspended particles and cellular materials. Nanofiltration membranes (pore size 2-50 nm) additionally retain large biomolecules, such as proteins and viruses (Nagy, 2019). Loose end NF membranes have a higher molecular cut-off weight (around 500-2000 Da) than tight end NF (< 500 Da) membranes, and are used to remove divalent ions from water (Guo et al., 2021). The MBR systems typically employ MF and UF membranes, due to their ability to effectively capture bacterial sludge flocs and nearly all suspended solids from a bioreactor. By utilizing these membranes, MBRs can produce a high effluent quality, while also minimizing power consumption required for the operating pressure (lorhemen et al., 2016).

# Membrane Material

There are two main categories of membrane, based upon the membrane material: polymeric membranes and ceramic membranes. Polymeric membranes have been the predominant type in wastewater treatment applications. They offer good mechanical stability and are less expensive in purchase, partly due to easy fabrication of pores in polymeric membranes (Antony & Leslie, 2011; Mutamim et al., 2013). Polymers often used in membranes for water treatment purposes are polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF), polyacrylonitrile (PAN), polyethylene (PE), polysulfone (PS) and polyethersulfone (PES) (lorhemen et al., 2016). However, polymeric membranes suffer from substantial fouling, due to their hydrophobic nature. They are also more susceptible to chemical degradation induced by oxidants and chlorine, which are employed during membrane operation for disinfection and cleaning (Antony & Leslie, 2011; Jorhemen et al., 2016). In response to these challenges, significant focus has been directed toward the enhancement of polymeric membranes through various modifications. The introduction of nanomaterials into the polymer membrane structure has proven effective in enhancing many membrane properties, such as its fouling resistance, hydrophilicity, water permeability and mechanical strength (Warsinger et al., 2018). Polymeric membranes modified with nanomaterials are also better suited for treating wastewater containing oil, such as kitchen greywater (Bassyouni et al., 2019). The synthesis of nanoparticle-polymeric membranes has become well-developed, making it a cost-effective technology (Bassyouni et al., 2019).

The development of ceramic membranes for water treatment has been on the rise in the past years (Asif & Zhang, 2021). These membranes are considerably more hydrophilic than polymeric membranes, resulting in significantly reduced fouling tendencies and a largely enhanced cleaning efficiency (Alresheedi et al., 2019; Lee & Kim, 2014). Ceramic membranes possess a high chemical inertness, rendering them resistant against degradation caused by harsh chemicals used for membrane cleaning (Arumugham et al., 2021; Jorhemen et al., 2016). Being fully oxidized, ceramic membranes possess a high oxidative resistance. This offers the opportunity to incorporate catalytic ozonation processes on the membrane surface or employ ozonation as a pretreatment step, further mitigating fouling (Byun et al., 2011; Warsinger et al., 2018). The structure of ceramic membranes comprises a macroporous support layer, an intermediate layer and a selective microporous top layer. Common materials employed for the top layer of ceramic membranes used in water treatment are alumina ( $Al_2O_3$ ), zirconia ( $ZrO_2$ ) and titania ( $TiO_2$ ). The application of other materials, such as zeolite and fly, ash are also being explored (Arumugham et al., 2021). The primary drawback of ceramic membranes has been the cost of the membranes themself, often rendering them economically unfeasible for application in MBRs (Iorhemen et al., 2016; Warsinger et al., 2018). Nonetheless, lower operating costs associated with ceramic membranes can enable the amortization of initial investment costs, thereby establishing the economic viability of such systems (Jarvis et al., 2022).

# 1.5.3 Membrane Fouling

### Mechanisms of Membrane Fouling

Membrane fouling, the most important drawback of MBRs, is a phenomenon where the permeability of the membrane deteriorates over time, due to the accumulation of solutes and suspended particles. Soluble microbial products and extracellular polymeric substances (EPS), specifically, are considered to have a major contribution to membrane fouling (Ivanovic & Leiknes, 2012). The complete mechanisms underlying membrane fouling remain not fully understood, although three main processes can be identified: internal fouling, external fouling, and concentration polarization (Du et al., 2020; Trinh et al., 2020). Internal fouling refers to deposition and adsorption of smaller foulants (e.g., solutes and colloids) withing membrane matrix (Trinh et al., 2020). External fouling refers to deposition on the membrane surface by foulants, such as macromolecules, colloids and suspended particles (Du et al., 2020). Two types of external fouling mechanisms are extensively described in literature: cake layer formation and gel layer formation. The initial development of the cake layer is primarily linked to the deposition of sludge flocs onto the membrane surface, initiating the formation of biofilms. Subsequently, the dominating process driving the cake layer's further progression is the deposition of smaller colloids (Wang & Tarabara, 2008; Wu, 2019; Yao et al., 2018). Gel layer formation can significantly diminish the membrane's permeability. Gelation of colloidal and dissolved compounds creates a thin and porous gel layer, characterized by a high specific filtration resistance (Du et al., 2020; Hong et al., 2014). The specific filtration resistance of gel layers can reach nearly 100 times higher that of cake layers (Hong et al., 2014). The paradox of such gel layers being both porous and yet possessing a substantial specific filtration resistance is not yet fully understood (Chen et al., 2016b). Concentration polarization can also increase the membrane resistance by gathering solids and ions within a narrow liquid layer, adjacent to the membrane surface (Du et al., 2020). When the concentration of solutes and/or particles near the membrane surface surpasses that within the main bulk solution, this leads to a reverse diffusion process back into the bulk solution (Guo et al., 2012).

#### Mitigation of Membrane Fouling

Membrane fouling can be limited in a preventive manner. One example is altering specific membrane properties. As fouling is more pronounced with hydrophobic membranes, the membrane surface can be coated with hydrophilic substances. The membrane surface can also be precoated with adsorptive particles, effectively reducing direct contact between the foulants and the membrane (Le-Clech et al., 2006). Operating conditions of the MBR system, such as the permeate flux, aeration, SRT, HRT or OLR, can be optimized to limit membrane fouling, as discussed in Section 1.5.4. The addition of coagulants, flocculants or adsorbents into the MBR feed water can also effectively temper membrane fouling (Du et al., 2020; Torretta et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2006).

Despite the existence of effective preventive strategies against membrane fouling, its occurrence is inevitable in wastewater treatment with MBRs. To maintain continuous operation, recovery of

the membrane permeability following fouling is crucial. In practice, the categorization of membrane fouling is often done in terms of permeability recovery. This includes reversible fouling (removed by physical cleaning), irreversible fouling (removed by chemical cleaning) and irrecoverable fouling (not removed by any cleaning regime) (Du et al., 2020; Judd, 2008). There are different types of physical cleaning of membranes. The simplest approach is intermittent membrane operation, wherein regular relaxation intervals are introduced, during which permeate pumps are turned off. During these relaxation phases, concentrated foulants diffuse away from the membrane due to a concentration gradient, moving back into the bulk of the reactor (Hong et al., 2002). The relaxation time should be long enough, as excessively short intervals can exacerbate fouling (Chua et al., 2002). Conversely, longer relaxation times lead to a reduction in overall membrane flux. Another widely utilized physical cleaning technique is air scouring. Rising air bubbles create a strong sheer force across the membrane surface, displacing the accumulated foulant layer (Du et al., 2020). The fine bubble air flow, employed for biomass aeration, can serve this purpose. Alternatively, an additional air diffusion pipe, releasing coarser bubbles, may be installed within the reactor, offering more effective foulant removal (Rabaey, 2019). Backwashing, involving a reversal in the direction of membrane flux, is also capable of addressing reversible fouling (Cui et al., 2018). A scouring material can also be introduced within the bioreactor, with the specific purpose of scraping the deposited foulants from the membrane surface (Siembida et al., 2010). In moving bed MBRs, biomass carriers can fulfill this purpose, aside from increasing denitrification in the reactor (see Section 1.5.5). In laboratory experiments utilizing small MBR setups, a soft brush can be employed to delicately remove the accumulation from the membrane (Jiang et al., 2020). This can be upscaled to large automated brushing systems (Song et al.) 2022).

Chemical cleaning is necessary in case of irreversible fouling, where fouling is so entrenched that it cannot be removed hydraulically, *i.e.*, through physical cleaning. Chemical cleaning can be executed either *in situ*, by replacing the greywater influent with a cleaning solution, or *ex situ*, where the membrane modules are removed from the MBR and submerged in a separate tank filled with a cleaning solution (Shi et al., 2014). Various types of chemicals, such as acids, bases, oxidants or chelates, are used to remove foulants from membranes. Typically, a mixture of those compounds is used for optimal results. The sequence of application of cleaning agents has an influence on the cleaning efficiency (Porcelli & Judd, 2010). The cleaning chemicals act by displacing the foulants, changing their morphology or altering the chemistry of the fouling layer (Li & Elimelech, 2004).

# 1.5.4 Operating Conditions

#### Temperature and pH

Microbial growth and activity are significantly affected by temperature (Price & Sowers, 2004). The removal of COD, nitrogen and most hydrophobic compounds was found to be stable in an MBR with temperatures between 10–35 °C (Hai et al., 2011). This corresponds with the usual temperature range of greywater (Oteng-Peprah et al., 2018a). Nitrification is sensitive to changes in the pH and is most optimal in the range of 7–8 (Tarre & Green, 2004).

#### Permeate Flux

The permeate flux is an important parameter in MBR operation and is expressed as the volume of permeate passing through the membrane per unit time and per unit membrane area (Quezada et al., 2021). There exists a maximal permeate flux, the critical flux, where the deposition of particles and colloids becomes significant (Diez et al., 2014). The MBRs for wastewater treatment are generally operated at a lower flux, the sustainable flux. The sustainable flux keeps membrane fouling at an economic and environmental sustainable level and prevents the need for chemical cleaning (lorhemen et al., 2016). Centralized municipal MBR wastewater treatment plants usually have permeate fluxes between 15–30 L/m<sup>2</sup>h. Greywater contains less organics than mixed domestic wastewater, resulting in lower potential for membrane fouling. The MBRs used for greywater treatment are generally operated at lower permeate fluxes in the range of 1–7 L/m<sup>2</sup>h (Wu, 2019).

### **Solids Retention Time**

The solids retention time (SRT) is the residence time of the sludge in the reactor, which affects the MLSS concentration in the reactor. Membrane bioreactors are operated at a higher SRT than conventional activated sludge plants (Rahman et al.) 2023). As a consequence, there is a reduced amount of available substrate (from the greywater) relative to the microorganisms present in the reactor, resulting in a decreased generation of waste sludge (Judd) 2022). Higher biomass concentrations in MBRs, due to the longer SRTs, benefit the removal of organic matter, nitrogen, pharmaceuticals and personal care products (Maeng et al.) 2013). Especially the slow-growing and sensitive microorganism (*e.g.*, nitrifiers) benefit from the longer SRTs in MBRs (Liu, 2008), as it increases their toleration towards toxic components. This is useful in greywater treatment, with regard to its high variation of pollutant concentrations (Najmi et al.) 2020). Excessively high SRTs can lead to increased membrane fouling, due biomass accumulation on the membrane, whereas very low SRTs can also worsen fouling by raising EPS concentrations in the mixed liquor (Iorhemen et al., 2016). Very long SRTs can affect the aeration efficiency negatively when MLSS concentrations become too high (Van den Broeck et al.) 2012).

### Hydraulic Retention Time

The hydraulic retention time (HRT) refers to the residence time of the wastewater in the reactor. This corresponds to the available time the microorganisms have to biodegrade contaminants in the greywater, which should be long enough to ensure adequate pollutant removal. Greywater has is less contaminated than blackwater (or mixed domestic wastewater), the optimal HRT of MBRs for greywater treatment is therefore lower (Atasoy et al., 2007). An important advantage of MBRs compared to conventional activated sludge plants is the more straightforward independent control of SRT and HRT (Judd, 2008). In MBRs, the HRT is typically lower than in CAS plants. However, the higher biomass concentrations in MBRs still ensure adequate pollutant removal (Rahman et al.) 2023). The lower HRTs in MBRs result in higher organic loading rates, reducing the required reactor

volume and stimulating the growth of microorganisms (Isma et al., 2014). Large reductions of the HRT can increase membrane fouling in MBRs due to increased sludge viscosity and higher EPS concentrations (Iorhemen et al., 2016). The operating range of HRTs in MBRs treating domestic wastewater is between 2 and 24 h (Merz et al., 2007).

# Aeration

Aeration has multiple functions in aerobic MBRs. It provides oxygen to the bacterial sludge, enabling nitrification and biodegradation of organics greywater, while also scouring the membrane surface, reducing deposition of sludge and suspended solids (lorhemen et al., 2016). In moving bed MBRs, air flow ensures adequate mixing in the reactor, preventing sinking and accumulation of the biocarriers at the bottom of the reactor (Jabornig & Favero, 2013). Increasing aeration reduces membrane fouling by intensifying sheer stress across the membrane surface. Excessive air flows in the reactor may lead to breakdown of sludge flocs and increase membrane fouling (Tang et al.) [2022]). A thinner, but denser, fouling layer is created that has a higher extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) content, increasing the need for cleaning of the membrane (Ding et al., 2016). Intermittent aeration can prevent break up of sludge flocs and therefore mitigate membrane fouling (Shi et al., 2022). Improvement of nitrification can be obtained through the use of pure oxygen as aeration instead of air (Rodríguez et al., 2012). Sufficient air supply is crucial for the proper operation of aerobic MBRs, but it should be controlled to a necessary level, due to its significant contribution (of nearly 50%) to the total energy requirements (Gil et al., 2010). In activated sludge plants, dissolved oxygen is maintained at approximately 2 mg/L to obtain complete nitrification, while avoiding excessive aeration costs (Rieger et al., 2014).

# **Organic Loading**

The organic loading of an MBR refers to the amount of organic matter in the incoming greywater (or any other influent). It is often quantified as the volumetric organic loading rate (OLR), expressed in kg COD per unit time and per unit volume. MBRs treating greywater are generally operated with an OLR in the range of 0.5–3 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>d (Johir et al., 2012; Sohail et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2010; Zinatizadeh & Ghaytooli, 2015). To achieve optimal biological treatment, the organic loading of a reactor could be increased to allow the biomass to reach a higher concentrations (Rabaey, 2019). Higher OLRs carry the risk of reduced filterability of the MBR, increased membrane fouling and decreased removal efficiencies of organics and ammonia (Johir et al., 2012).

# 1.5.5 Moving Bed MBRs

A moving bed membrane bioreactor (MB-MBR) is a type of MBR that holds suspended biomass carriers in the bioreactor, designed to support the growth of microorganisms, initiating the formation of biofilms. These systems comprise by consequence two types of biomass: biofilms attached onto

the carriers and microorganisms suspended within the mixed liquor (Ivanovic & Leiknes 2012). Biocarriers are usually made of plastic media, although alternative materials, like polyurethane foam, activated carbon, sand, zeolite, wood chips, and ceramic carriers, are also utilized (Deng et al., 2016). There is an increasing fascination with sponge carriers or modified plastic carriers that incorporate sponge material, attributed to their affordability and remarkable biomass retention capabilities (Deng et al., 2016; Sohail et al., 2020). A critical parameter in the design of MB-MBRs is the volumetric filling fraction of these biocarriers, which significantly influences the overall surface area of the biofilm within the reactor. This fraction can typically extend to as much as 65% of the reactor's total volume. The MBRs and MB-MBRs generally exhibit comparable performance in terms of nitrification and the removal of organics (Ivanovic & Leiknes, 2012).

There are two major advantages to the addition of biocarriers in an MBR: a significantly improved total nitrogen removal and a substantial reduction in membrane fouling (Saidulu et al.) 2021). The development of biofilm on the carriers induces a gradient of dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration, with lower levels in the deeper biofilm layers, due to constraints in DO diffusion from the liquid phase. Consequently, this leads to anoxic conditions within the inner biofilm, providing a suitable environment for denitrification by heterotrophic denitrifiers. This process enhances the conversion of nitrate into gaseous nitrogen, resulting in elevated removal of total nitrogen (Ivanovic & Leiknes, 2012; Leyva-Díaz et al., 2015). The heterotrophic biofilm can also accelerate the initial development of slow growing microorganisms (di Biase et al., 2019). Membrane fouling is reduced in MBBR-MBR through two mechanisms: mechanical scouring of the membrane by the carriers and through improved filterability of the mixed liquor. The mechanical effects have been identified as the major reason for reduction in fouling, consequently extending the duration of membrane filtration (Chen et al., 2016a; Sohail et al., 2023). Another advantage of MB-MBRs is that they have the potential to be a more compact technology (Leyva-Díaz et al., 2015), a crucial attribute for decentralized treatment in urban settings where spatial constraints are significant.
# Chapter 2

# **OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESES**

Greywater has been identified as a valuable fresh water resource to combat global water scarcity issues, especially in urban areas. Decentralized treatment of greywater can efficiently link the production of greywater with the demand for fresh water, thereby facilitating greywater reuse. Membrane bioreactors are a promising technology for decentralized greywater treatment, as they have the capability to treat greywater in a compact and efficient way, resulting in high-quality water as the end product. The MBR's compact nature is an important advantage in facilitating decentralized greywater treatment at the building level, as spatial constraints are significant in urban settings.

The goal for this thesis was to acquire a robust MBR system, with adequate COD and nitrogen removal from greywater, for non-potable reuse purposes. The operating conditions of two membrane bioreactors were adjusted (one MBR served as a control), to optimize COD and nitrogen removal. The treatment performance of the MBRs was assessed twice a week. This research was accompanied by nitrification batch tests, to elucidate the nitrification activity of the sludge present in the membrane bioreactors.

The specific objectives and hypotheses of this thesis were:

- Attaining an efficiently operating ceramic membrane MBR system that ensures sufficient removal of COD and nitrogen to meet the criteria for non-potable reuse guidelines. It is expected that a well-aerated MBR system will remove COD and nitrogen adequately.
- Elucidating the biodegradability of organics in synthetic greywater. Greywater is usually relatively biodegradable, depending on the amount of surfactants present.
- Measuring and assessing the influence of different HRTs and levels of aeration within the MBR to optimize nitrification. Higher HRTs have the potential to improve pollutant removal. Adequate aeration is essential to support the aerobic metabolism of nitrifying microorganisms.

- Comparing the total nitrogen removal between a conventional MBR and an MB-MBR containing PVDF carriers. The MB-MBR is expected to have a better nitrate, and subsequently TN, removal.
- Optimizing the organic loading rate in the MBR and MB-MBR. A higher organic loading rate (OLR) can stimulate microbial growth in the reactor, leading to higher MLSS concentrations, which improves the treatment efficiency of the MBR system.
- Investigating the effects of modified operational parameters (HRT, aeration flow, and OLR) and the introduction of biocarriers on the rate of membrane fouling in the studied MBR systems. An increased HRT has the potential to reduce sludge viscosity and concentrations of EPS, thereby decreasing the membrane fouling rate. Enhanced aeration flow rates can amplify the scouring effects on the accumulated fouling layer, also leading to a subsequent reduction in membrane fouling potential. Elevated OLR could potentially reduce sludge filterability, subsequently increasing membrane fouling.

# Chapter 3

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 3.1 Synthetic Greywater

The recipe for synthetic greywater, comprising a selection of personal care products (PCPs) and chemicals, was adopted from Ongena et al. (2023). A feedstock solution of a  $120 \times$  concentrated synthetic greywater was prepared weekly and stored in a refrigerated room at 4–7 °C. The composition of the concentrated feedstock solution is listed in Table 3.1. The brands of the PCPs and chemicals are listed in Table A.1 of the appendix.

**Table 3.1:** Ingredients and their concentrations, used for the preparation of the  $120 \times$  concentrated synthetic greywater. See Table A.1 for the brands and product types.

PCPs	Conc. (mg/L)	Chemicals	Conc. (mg/L)
Dishwashing detergent	10.44	Ammonium chloride	9.96
Liquid laundry	24.96	Calcium chloride	6.00
Shampoo	6.36	Potassium phosphate dibasic	0.36
Shaving gel	6.36	Sodium acetate	46.15
Shower gel	17.16	Sodium bicarbonate	40.32
Toothpaste	4.32	Sodium chloride	6.00
		Sodium sulfate	6.12

## 3.2 Experimental Set-up

Two identical membrane bioreactors, labeled MBR-1 and MBR-2, were operated in parallel (Figure 3.1) from September 2022 to February 2023. Each reactor was made of plexiglass with a working volume of 10 L. They contained two identical flat sheet ceramic (SiC) membrane panels each. One membrane had a surface area of 0.165 m<sup>2</sup>, resulting in 0.330 m<sup>2</sup> membrane per reactor. The

pore size of the membranes was  $0.56 \ \mu m$ . The membranes were physically cleaned by removing accumulated sludge with a soft brush when the transmembrane pressure (TMP) exceeded 10–13 kPa. Air pumps (P-400, Paladin, China) supplied a compressed air flow through two aeration pipes at the bottom of each MBR, directly below the membrane modules. Both reactors were continuously fed from the same influent tank of 120 L. This tank was manually refilled (approximately twice a week) by adding 1 L of the concentrated greywater solution and subsequently topping it up with tap water. Prior to each refill, the influent tank was emptied and cleansed using a mop. The membrane permeate flow (*i.e.*, the effluent) was directly discarded into the drain. The influent and permeate flows of both MBRs were carried out by time-controlled peristaltic pumps (LEPP350S, LST, Korea). Following every 72-minute pumping cycle, a 4-minute relaxation period was implemented. A constant working volume of the reactors was ensured by redirecting excess mixed liquor to an overflow tank. This measure was put in place to effectively address fluctuations in the reactor's volume and operational problems related to the pumps. The overflow liquid from the MBRs was collected in the same overflow tank, which was emptied regularly, and stored in a refrigerated room for further use (e.g., in nitrification activity batch tests). The supernatant of the stored overflow liquid was discarded on a regular basis to concentrate the sludge, which was used later on in the nitrification activity batch tests.



**Figure 3.1:** Setup of the influent tank, the aerated membrane bioreactors (MBR-1 and MBR-2), the overflow tank and the time-controlled peristaltic pumps. The effluent was directly disposed in the drain.

The influent, mixed liquor, and effluent quality of MBRs were monitored during the experimental period of 126 days (30 September 2022–3 February 2023). The membrane of MBR-1 cracked unexpectedly on day 119 (January 27, 2023) after which its monitoring was discontinued. The influent, reactor mixed liquor, and effluent were sampled twice a week (every Tuesday and Friday). The concentrations of the following analytes were measured in these samples: ammonia-N,

nitrite-N, nitrate-N, TN, and total COD. The reactor mixed liquor samples were filtered using a 0.46 µm MCE syringe filter (Biofil, China) before measuring these concentrations. Hence, these concentrations solely represent the suspended TN and COD. An additional sample was taken on the same days from the reactor mixed liquor to determine the MLSS and MLVSS concentrations of the reactors. The TMP of both MBRs was recorded at the time of sampling. The temperature and pH of the reactors were continuously monitored. From day 40 onward, the DO concentration in each reactor was measured at the time of sampling. The synthetic greywater influent was sampled on days 98 and 113 for the determination of its BOD<sub>5</sub>.

## 3.3 Optimization of Operating Conditions

Both MBRs were operated at a water recovery rate of 97% during the entire experimental period (*i.e.*, 3% of the influent was redirected to the overflow). Between days 1–102, MBR-1 was operated at an HRT of 15.1 h, an SRT of 21.0 days, and an OLR of 0.636 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>d. The OLR was calculated based on an anticipated average influent COD concentration of 400 mg/L. MBR-2 was operated at these same conditions between days 1–6 and 47–102. Between days 6–47, the HRT and SRT of MBR-2 were augmented to 20.0 h and 27.8 days, respectively. This resulted in an OLR of 0.480 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>d. From day 102 onward, the HRT and SRT of both MBRs were set at 8.6 h and 11.9 days, respectively to attain an anticipated OLR of 1.130 kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>d. This OLR was calculated based on a slightly higher average influent COD concentration of 405 mg/L, based on the COD concentration data of the greywater up until day 102.

The aeration of both MBRs was initially set at an air supply flow rate of 0.6 L/min. The air flow was provided by one air pump per MBR. Between days 36–92, the air supply flow rate of both reactors was increased to 1.0 L/min. An exception was MBR-2 between days 85–92, where the aeration was decreased to 0.5 L/min, due to problems with the overflow grid (elaborated further in Section 5.3). From day 92 onward, an additional air pump was installed for each MBR. All pumps were operated at their maximal air flow rate from day 92 onward. This exceeded the capacity of the air flow rate meter, rendering the precise air flow rate indeterminable during this period.

Both MBRs were operated as conventional MBRs, *i.e.*, without biomass carriers, between days 1–71. From day 71 onward, MBR-2 was operated as an MB-MBR with a volumetric filling ratio of 10% of polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) biomass carriers. The carriers were cut up into small cylinders of  $3 \times 1$  mm. They had a density of 0.24 g/mL, a surface area of 2.91 m<sup>2</sup>/g, and a surface resistance of 600  $\Omega/cm^2$ .

Four modifications to the operational conditions were anticipated to significantly impact the treatment performance and align with the objectives of this thesis. These adjustments are summarized in Table 3.2, and their labels will serve as points of reference in the graphs depicting the treatment performance of the MBRs across various compounds in Section 4.2.

Label	Modification	Day
Τ1	Increase of HRT from 15.1 h to 20.0 h*	26
A1	Increase of aeration flow from 0.6 L/min to 1 L/min	36
Τ2	Decrease of HRT back to 15.1 h*	47
В	Addition of biomass carriers in 10% volume ratio*	71
A2	Increase of aeration flow from 1 L/min to the maximal capacity	92
OLR	Increase of OLR from 0.636 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> d to 1.130 kg COD/m <sup>3</sup> d	102

**Table 3.2:** Summary of modifications in the operational conditions of MBRs 1 and 2.

\*Modifications applied to MBR-2 only.

### 3.4 Nitrification Activity Batch Tests

Sludge from both MBRs was used in nitrification activity batch tests, following the protocol by van Loosdrecht et al. (2016). Such batch test comprised of a beaker, filled with synthetic greywater and activated sludge. This beaker is continuously stirred and aerated for 4 hours. During this time, ammonia concentrations are monitored to calculate the nitrification activity. This batch test consists of a beaker containing synthetic greywater and activated sludge, which is continuously stirred and aerated for a duration of 4 hours (Figure 3.2). Throughout this period, ammonia concentrations are measured to determine the rate of nitrification activity. The tests were carried out at two different moments (days 49 and 132) in the experimental period to obtain a snapshot of the nitrification capacity of the MBR mixed liquors. Synthetic greywater was used as an ammonium and nitrite source during the batch tests. The synthetic greywater for the batch tests consisted of the ingredients listed in Table 3.1, but with the exemption of sodium acetate. Sodium acetate was omitted to minimize the aerobic heterotrophic consumption of COD. The batch tests were performed in beakers of 500 mL, filled with 5 mL of  $100 \times$  concentrated synthetic greywater and 400 mL of overflow mixed liquor. The beakers were partly covered with parafilm to keep the foaming surfactants inside (Figure 3.2). A magnetic stirring bar was used to mix the batch test liquid. Dissolved oxygen was supplied by an aeration stone submerged in the liquid. The sludge used in the tests was collected from the stored MBR overflow, which was collected in the weeks leading up to the test. The obtained sludge was aerated overnight and washed three times with tap water before the start of the tests. Right before the start of the tests, the MLSS and MLVSS concentrations of every batch test beakers were measured.

Two nitrification activity batch tests (series A) were carried out on day 49. These will be referred to as batch tests A1 and A2. The MBR overflow sludge used in these batch tests was collected between days 35–48. Both tests were performed simultaneously and under the same conditions. The duration of each test was 4 hours. Sampling of mixed liquor from the beakers was done at the start of the test and at 0.5, 1, 2, 3, and 4 hours after the start of the test. Measurement of the ammonia-N, nitrite-N, nitrate-N, TN, and COD concentrations was done for all the mixed liquor samples.



Figure 3.2: Setup of one batch test beaker.

Two additional nitrification batch tests (series B) were carried out on day 132. These batch tests were labeled as B1 and B2. The MBR overflow sludge used in these batch tests was collected between days 118–132. Batch test B2 included biomass carriers that were extracted from MBR-2. The tests were performed simultaneously, and the duration of each test was 4 hours. Mixed liquor was sampled from the test beakers at the start of the test and 15 min, 30 min, 45 min, 1 h, 1.5 h, 2 h, 2.5 h, 3 h, 3.5 h, and 4 h after the start of the test. The concentrations of ammonia-N, nitrate-N, and COD were determined for all these samples.

## 3.5 Water Quality Analysis Methods

The temperature and pH of the mixed liquor of both MBRs were continuously monitored with a PS-2153 temperature probe and a PS-2573 pH electrode, respectively, which were both connected to a PS-2022-220 Sparklink Air data transmitter (PASCO Scientific, USA). The temperature during the batch tests was measured with a bulb thermometer. The TMP was measured with a DPGW-09 pressure gauge (Dwyer Instruments Inc., USA). DO concentrations of the mixed liquor were determined using a DO-5519 portable DO probe (LUTRON Instruments, Taiwan).

The concentrations of COD, BOD<sub>5</sub>, nitrogen forms, suspended solids (SS), and volatile suspended solids (VSS) were determined according to the APHA Standard Methods (Baird et al.) 2017). Digestions were done using the HANA HI839800-02 digestor, and absorbance measurements were performed with a OPTIZEN POP UV-vis spectrophotometer (KLab, Republic of Korea). The COD concentrations were measured according to the *5520 D. Closed Reflux, Colorimetric Method.* For COD measurement in the MBR influent samples, the high-range digestion solution was used, and absorbance was measured at 600 nm. For COD measurement of the mixed liquor, MBR effluent, and batch test samples, the low-range digestion solution was used and absorbance was measured at 420 nm. The BOD<sub>5</sub> measurement was performed following the *5210 B. 5-Day* 

BOD Test protocol. Six BOD<sub>5</sub> bottles of freshly prepared synthetic greywater were incubated at 20 °C on January 21, 2023, with the addition of 2 mL overflow mixed liquor. Measurement of ammonia-N concentrations was done according to the 4500-NH<sub>3</sub> F. Phenate Method, after diluting the samples 20 times. Absorbance was measured at 640 nm. Nitrite-N concentrations were determined according to the 4500-NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> B. Colorimetric Method, with absorbance measurement at 543 nm. Nitrate-N concentrations were determined according to the 4500-NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> C. Second-Derivative Ultraviolet Spectrophotometric Method, using absorbance measurements between 200 and 250 nm. TN concentrations were determined according to the 4500-N C. Persulfate Method, after diluting the samples 2 times. The absorbance was measured between 200 and 250 nm. The SS concentrations were determined according to the 2450 D. Total Suspended Solids Dried at 103–105°C method. The VSS were determined according to the 2540 E. Fixed and Volatile Solids Ignited at 550°C method.

### 3.6 Data Processing

Excel was used to perform linear regressions and calculate their coefficient of determination ( $\mathbb{R}^2$ ). The linear regression of the ammonia-N data in the batch tests was used to determine their ammonium oxidation rate ( $r_{NH4}$ ). The specific ammonium oxidation rate ( $q_{NH4}$ ) of mixed liquor was calculated with Equitation 3.1 (van Loosdrecht et al.) 2016).

$$q_{NH4} = \frac{r_{NH4}}{[VSS]} \tag{3.1}$$

The organic loading rate was calculated with Equation 3.2 ( $[COD]_{in}$  = influent concentration of COD).

$$OLR = \frac{HRT}{[COD]_{in}}$$
(3.2)

### 3.7 Text Processing

Throughout this thesis, the artificial intelligence tool ChatGPT was occasionally used to paraphrase sentences or passages. This function of the ChatGPT tool was utilized with the "rewrite" command on <a href="https://chat.openai.com/">https://chat.openai.com/</a>. The generated output served solely as a source of inspiration for alternative sentence structures or synonyms.

# Chapter 4

## RESULTS

## 4.1 Characterization of Synthetic Greywater

The BOD<sub>5</sub> tests (5 replicates) of the synthetic greywater resulted in an average BOD<sub>5</sub> concentration of  $278\pm27$  mg/L. The COD concentration of the greywater used in the BOD<sub>5</sub> test was 403 mg/L. This resulted in a BOD/COD ratio of  $0.69\pm0.07$ . Mean COD and nitrogen concentrations of the synthetic greywater, used as influent for the membrane bioreactor are presented in Table [4.1].

Parameter	Concentration		
COD	mg/L	$402\pm57$	
ΤN	mg N/L	$23\pm5$	
Ammonia	mg N/L	$15\pm3$	
Nitrite	mg N/L	$0.08\pm0.08$	
Nitrate	mg N/L	$0.64\pm0.56$	

**Table 4.1:** Average COD, TN, ammonia-N, nitrite-N and nitrate-N concentrations of the synthetic greywater over the operating period of the MBR reactors of 126 days (34 samples of the MBR-1 influent and 36 samples of the MBR-2 influent).

## 4.2 Greywater Treatment Performance of MBR and MB-MBR

### 4.2.1 Temperature, pH and Dissolved Oxygen

Due to an unexpected power outage, temperature and pH levels could not be monitored between days 35-74. The measured temperature patterns in both reactors were very similar, with a maximal

observed temperature difference of 1.2°C between MBR-1 and MBR-2 (Figure 4.1). In September-November, the average temperature of both reactors was 24°C, which was higher than the average temperature of December-February, which was 20°C for both reactors. The pH levels for MBR-1 and MBR-2 were on average  $6.5\pm0.7$  and  $6.3\pm0.5$ , respectively (Figure 4.2). In MBR-1, the DO concentration varied between 5.1-6.3 mg/L in the period of days 40–54 (Figure 4.3). For days 61–85, the DO concentration fluctuated within a range of 3.6-5.4 mg/L. From day 89 onward, the DO concentration was higher, with an average of  $7.8\pm0.5$  mg/L. The DO concentration of MBR-2 fluctuated a lot (within the range of 3.4-6.9 mg/L) between days 40–71. Between days 75–85, the DO concentration was lower, on average  $1.4\pm0.3$  mg/L. It then increased back to 5.4 on days 92–95. For days 102-123, the average DO concentration was higher,  $7.3\pm0.4$  mg/L.



Figure 4.1: Temperature of the mixed liquor of MBR-1 and MBR-2 for days 1–34 and days 75–126.



Figure 4.2: pH of the mixed liquor of MBR-1 and MBR-2 for days 1–34 and days 75–126.



**Figure 4.3:** Dissolved oxygen (DO) concentrations of the mixed liquor of MBR-1 and MBR-2 for days 40–123.

#### 4.2.2 Biomass Growth Analysis

The mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) and mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS) concentrations of MBR-1 started at 480 mg/L on day 1 (Figure 4.4). For days 1–102, MLVSS/MLSS fluctuated between 83% and 100%. For days 5–15, the MLSS increased up to 1700 mg/L. Between days 19–22, the MLSS was lower, on average 910±92 mg/L. For days 36–54, the MLSS and MLVSS concentrations steadily increased, up to 2060 and 1920 mg/L, respectively. After day 54, they decreased to a minimum of 1305 and 1090 mg/L (on day 61). From day 64, the MLSS and MLVSS concentrations steadily increased again, up to 4050 and 3360 mg/L, respectively, on day 102. On days 104 and 112, the MLSS concentration was much higher than before, at 12660 and 10990 mg/L, respectively. The MLVSS for these days remained similar to the preceding days, resulting in MLVSS/MLSS ratios of 28% and 17% for days 104 and 112, respectively. On day 116, the MLSS and MLVSS concentrations were much lower again, at 1950 and 1910 mg/L, respectively.



**Figure 4.4:** MBR-1 mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) and mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS) concentrations for days 1–119. (A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

The MLSS and MLVSS concentrations in MBR-2 started off lower than in MBR-1, at 245 and 195 mg/L, respectively (Figure 4.5). For days 1–102, MLVSS/MLSS of MBR-2 fluctuated between 79% and 100%. For days 1–75, the MLSS concentration showed an increasing trend up to 3400 mg/L. Between days 75–85, the MLSS concentration remained between 3030 and 3405 mg/L. Between days 92–95, lower MLSS concentrations were measured (1945 mg/L). On days 104 and 112, the MLSS concentration was much higher, at 12580 and 11400 mg/L, respectively. The MLVSS concentration was 3350 and 2350, respectively, for these days. From day 116 onward, the MLSS concentration was lower again and fluctuated between 1940 and 2360 mg/L.



**Figure 4.5:** MBR-2 mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) and mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS) concentrations for days 1–126. (T1 = increase of HRT; T2 = decrease of HRT; A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; B = addition biocarriers; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

#### 4.2.3 Membrane Fouling Analysis

The transmembrane pressure (TMP) of the MBR membranes built up over time, and then they were cleaned. The course of the TMP for MBR-1 and MBR-2 is plotted in Figures 4.6 and 4.7, respectively. The membranes of MBR-1 were cleaned on days 12, 29, 85, 112, and 118. After cleaning, the TMP of MBR-1 increased already after the course of 3 to 10 days. The membranes of MBR-2 were cleaned on days 12, 47, and 123. After day 71, the cleaning frequency of MBR-2 was lower than for MBR-1. The TMP of MBR-2 also remained longer at 0 kPa after cleaning.



**Figure 4.6:** MBR-1 transmembrane pressure (TMP) for days 1–119. (A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)



**Figure 4.7:** MBR-2 transmembrane pressure (TMP) for days 1-126 (T1 = increase of HRT; T2 = decrease of HRT; A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; B = addition biocarriers; OLR = increase of organic loading rate).

#### 4.2.4 COD Removal

The influent COD concentration of MBR-1 fluctuated the most between days 1–33 (Figure 4.8). The average concentration in this period was  $381\pm66$  mg/L. From day 36 onward, COD levels in the influent of MBR-1 were more stable. Between days 36–78, the average COD concentration was 431 mg/L, with a standard deviation of 29 mg/L. For days 82–116, the COD level in the influent was on average lower, with a mean COD concentration of  $387\pm27$  mg/L. A maximum in influent COD of 541 mg/L was measured on day 119. The effluent COD concentrations of MBR-1 had lower variability than the influent COD.

The average effluent COD concentration for the entire operational period of MBR-1 was  $39\pm14$  mg/L, and the average COD removal efficiency was  $(90\pm5)$ %. The effluent COD concentrations varied within a range of 14 to 70 mg/L. Elevated COD in the effluent occurred between days 12-29 and days 36-43, with an average concentration of  $57\pm7$  mg/L. The COD removal efficiency was on average  $(85\pm4)$ % and reached a minimum of 78% on day 22. The highest COD effluent concentration was measured on day 19, at 70 mg/L. Between days 47-61, COD removal improved in MBR-1. The average COD concentration and removal efficiency were  $33\pm3$  mg/L and  $(92\pm1)$ %, respectively. Between days 64-75, the effluent COD concentration was slightly higher again, with an average of  $45\pm4$  mg/L. The mean removal efficiency was  $(89\pm1)$ % during this period. From day 78, the effluent COD concentration and removal efficiency averaged  $28\pm9$  mg/L and  $(96\pm3)$ %, respectively. On day 119, a high concentration of 48 mg/L was measured for COD in the effluent. The average OLR was  $0.65\pm0.08$  kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>d between days 1-98. For days 102-119, the average OLR was  $1.14\pm0.21$  kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>d.



**Figure 4.8:** MBR-1 influent and effluent COD concentrations for days 1-119. (A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

For MBR-2, similarly to MBR-1, the variation in influent COD concentrations (61 mg/L) was higher than the variation in effluent COD concentrations (17 mg/L) (Figure 4.9). For the entire operational period of MBR-2, the average influent COD concentration was  $398\pm61$  mg/L. The lowest and highest COD influent concentrations were measured on days 104 (296 mg/L) and 36 (484 mg/L), respectively.

The effluent COD concentrations ranged between 18 and 108 mg/L. The average effluent COD concentration and removal efficiency were  $43\pm17$  mg/L and  $(89\pm5)$ %, respectively. Between days 12–43, elevated effluent concentrations were measured from MBR-2. During this period, the mean effluent COD concentration and removal efficiency were  $61\pm19$  mg/L and  $(84\pm6)$ %, respectively. Two higher peaks in effluent COD levels of 108 and 78 mg/L were measured on days 29 and 43, respectively. For days 47–61, the COD removal improved and was on average  $(93\pm2)$ %. The effluent COD concentration was  $31\pm6$  mg/L on average for this period. Between days 64-75, the average COD effluent concentration and removal efficiency were  $47\pm6$  mg/L and  $(89\pm1)$ %, respectively. Between days 78–82, COD effluent concentrations improved and were  $20\pm2$  on average. On day 85, a sudden increase to 42 mg/L was observed. Between days 89-104, the COD effluent concentration and removal efficiency averaged  $30\pm4$  mg/L and  $(92\pm1)$ %, respectively. From day 112 onward, COD levels in the effluent of MBR-2 became higher again. The average oLR was  $0.60\pm0.08$  kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>d between days 1-98. For days 102-119, the average OLR was  $1.11\pm0.17$  kg COD/m<sup>3</sup>d.



**Figure 4.9:** MBR-2 influent and effluent COD concentrations and removal efficiency for days 1-126. (T1 = increase of HRT; T2 = decrease of HRT; A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; B = addition biocarriers; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

#### 4.2.5 Nitrogen Removal

#### Ammonia

The influent ammonia-N concentration of MBR-1 was on average  $18.4\pm2.4$  mg/L and fluctuated between 13.3 and 22.7 mg/L (Figure 4.10). The effluent concentration of ammonia-N from MBR-1 was initially similar to the influent concentration, and the average ammonia removal efficiency was 12%. Between days 8 and 26, the effluent concentration of ammonia-N varied from 7.30 to 10.9 mg/L. This was remarkably lower than the corresponding influent concentrations and resulted in improved ammonia-N removal efficiencies between 43 and 68%. Between days 29 and 43, effluent concentrations of ammonia-N returned to the range of the influent concentrations. Removal efficiencies decreased to 9% on day 36. The effluent ammonia-N concentration decreased to 9.3 mg/L again on day 47. From day 50 onward, two weeks after the increase in aeration of the reactor, ammonia-N concentrations remarkably decreased. The average MBR-1 effluent ammonia-N concentration from day 54 onward was  $0.7\pm0.3$  mg/L. During this period, the concentration stayed below 1.2 mg/L. From day 54 on, the average ammonia-N removal efficiency of MBR-1 was (96±2)%.



**Figure 4.10:** MBR-1 influent and effluent ammonia-N concentrations for days 1-116. (A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

The average ammonia-N concentration in the MBR-2 influent was  $19.2\pm2.3 \text{ mg/L}$  for the total duration of the experimental period. It generally fluctuated between 16.9 and 23.2 mg/L (Figure 4.11). The only exceptions to this are days 64 and 95, where the ammonia-N concentration was 14.2 and 11.5 mg/L, respectively. For the effluent concentration of ammonia-N from MBR-2, two clearly distinct regimes were observed. From day 1 to day 40, the average concentration was  $16.5\pm1.9 \text{ mg/L}$ . Effluent ammonia-N concentrations fluctuated within the range of 13.5-21.0 mg/L during this period. The ammonia-N removal efficiency of MBR-2 varied from 3 to 34% in this period. On day 43, one week after the increase in aeration of the MBR tank, the effluent ammonia-N concentration decreased to 1.4 mg/L. From day 43 to day 126, the average effluent concentration was  $0.9\pm0.6 \text{ mg/L}$ , and the average ammonia-N removal efficiency was  $(95\pm3)\%$ . Between days 71–82 the average effluent ammonia-N concentration was higher, *i.e.*,  $1.6\pm0.9 \text{ mg/L}$ .



**Figure 4.11:** MBR-2 influent and effluent ammonia-N concentrations for days 1-126. (T1 = increase of HRT; T2 = decrease of HRT; A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; B = addition biocarriers; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

#### Nitrite

In MBR-1, nitrite was present in both the influent and effluent present at low concentrations. The nitrite-N concentration in the influent of MBR-1 fluctuated slightly but stayed between 0.01 and 0.15 mg/L (Figure 4.12). The effluent nitrite-N concentrations were higher than the influent concentrations during the first three weeks of the experimental period. The effluent concentrations between days 5–15 were remarkably higher, with an average nitrite-N concentration of  $1.2\pm0.1$  mg/L. From days 22–43, the effluent nitrite-N concentration fell within a similar range as the influent corresponding influent concentration. Between days 47–54, the effluent concentration averaged 1.2 mg/L again. From day 61 onward, the effluent nitrite-N concentrations of MBR-1 were near zero.



**Figure 4.12:** MBR-1 influent and effluent nitrite-N concentrations for days 1-119. (A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

The influent nitrite-N concentration of MBR-2 fluctuated within the same range as for MBR-1, between 0.01 and 0.15 mg/L (Figure 4.13). Only one higher influent nitrite-N concentration was measured, 0.80 mg/L on day 102. The effluent nitrite-N concentrations from MBR-2 were in the same order of magnitude as the influent concentrations from day 1 to day 33. From day 36 to day 47, the effluent concentration was between 0.49 and 1.25 mg/L, which was higher than the influent concentration. From day 50 onward, the effluent nitrite-N concentrations were similar to the influent concentrations, with the exception of day 61 (1.22 mg/L). Between days 75 and 85, the effluent nitrite-N concentrations of MBR-2 were slightly higher, *i.e.*,  $0.23\pm0.15$  mg/L.



**Figure 4.13:** MBR-2 influent and effluent nitrite-N concentrations for days 1-126. (T1 = increase of HRT; T2 = decrease of HRT; A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; B = addition biocarriers; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

#### Nitrate

The nitrate-N concentrations in the MBR-1 influent generally remained below 1 mg/L (Figure 4.14). On days 26 and 43–54, the influent nitrate-N concentration was slightly higher, but remained between 1 and 2 mg/L. In the first week of the experimental period, the nitrate-N effluent concentration of MBR-1 was in the same order of magnitude as the influent. On day 8, a higher nitrate-N concentration of 5.0 mg/L was measured in the effluent. Between days 8–3, the effluent nitrate-N concentration decreased linearly ( $R^2 = 0.93$ ) to 0.7 mg/L. This concentration remained constant for days 8–40. The effluent nitrate-N concentration increased linearly ( $R^2 = 0.91$ ) from 1.6 mg/L on day 43, which corresponds to a week after the increase in aeration, up to 9.8 mg/L on day 57. Between days 57–89, this concentration fluctuated around an average value of 9.1±0.6 mg/L. The effluent nitrate-N concentration further increased from day 92 onward and averaged 12.2±0.7 mg/L between days 92–112. From day 116 onward, the effluent nitrate-N concentration decreased, averaging 7.6±0.6 mg/L.



**Figure 4.14:** MBR-1 influent and effluent nitrate-N concentrations for days 1-119. (A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

For MBR-2, the influent nitrate-N concentration was generally below 1 mg/L as well (Figure 4.15). Exceptionally (on days 26, 40–54, and 102), the influent nitrate-N concentration was between 1 and 2.3 mg/L. The nitrate-N effluent concentration stayed below 0.4 mg/L between days 1–36. From day 40, which corresponds with 4 days after the increase in aeration, the nitrate-N concentration started to increase in the MBR-2 effluent. The nitrate-N concentration stayed within a range of 8.3 to 11.8 mg/L between days 47–71, with the exception of day 61 (4.5 mg/L). From day 75, the effluent nitrate-N concentration started to gradually decrease. For days 82 and 85, the concentration was 0.9 and 1.4 mg/L, respectively. A much higher concentration of nitrate-N was recorded in the MBR-2 effluent from day 89 onward. From day 89 onward, the nitrate-N effluent concentration was  $9.3\pm0.4$  mg/L. On day 98, the effluent nitrate-N concentration reached a maximum of 13.3 mg/L. Hereafter, the nitrate-N effluent concentration decreased and stabilized between 7.1 and 8.5 mg/L from day 112 onward (except for day 123 with 3.1 mg/L).



**Figure 4.15:** MBR-2 influent and effluent nitrate-N concentrations for days 1-126. (T1 = increase of HRT; T2 = decrease of HRT; A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; B = addition biocarriers; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

#### Total Nitrogen

The total nitrogen (TN) concentrations of the influent of MBR-1 varied between 14.3–38.2 mg/L (Figure 4.16). Two periods of different influent TN levels can be distinguished. For days 1–54, the average influent TN concentration was  $17.7 \pm 2.7$  mg/L. Until day 33, influent TN concentrations (= [TN]<sub>inf</sub>) were similar to the sum of the influent ammonia-N, nitrite-N and nitrate-N concentrations  $(= [NH_4^+ + NO_2^- + NO_3^-]_{inf})$ . Between days 36–54,  $[TN]_{inf}$  was on average 6.3±0.4 mg/L lower than  $[NH_4^+ + NO_2^- + NO_3^-]_{inf}$ , with the exception of day 40, where  $[TN]_{inf}$  was 1.9 mg/L higher than the sum. From day 57 onward, the  $[TN]_{inf}$  was always higher than  $[NH_4^+ + NO_2^- + NO_3^-]_{inf}$ . The effluent TN concentrations (=  $[TN]_{eff}$ ) of MBR-1 fluctuated between 8.0–20.9 mg/L, with an average of  $13.0\pm4.0$  mg/L. Between days 50–61, the average  $[TN]_{eff}$  was lower,  $9.5\pm1.1$ mg/L. Between days 78–98, the average  $[TN]_{eff}$  was higher, 17.6±2.2 mg/L. From day 102 onward, [TN]<sub>eff</sub> highly fluctuated between 12.3–19.1 mg/L. [TN]<sub>eff</sub> was similar to the sum of the effluent ammonia-N, nitrite-N and nitrate-N concentrations during the entire experimental period. The removal efficiency of TN fluctuated between 14-34% for days 1-54, with the exception of day 12 (9%). The TN removal efficiency of MBR-1 was higher on days 57 and 61, with 63 and 72%, respectively. On days 64–68, the removal efficiency decreased to 45%. On day 71, a higher removal efficiency of 63% was found. Between days 75-85, the removal efficiency was on average  $(46\pm6)\%$ . Between days 89–95, the removal efficiency was lower, on average  $(22\pm6)\%$ . Between days 98–104, the removal efficiency increased and was on average  $(48\pm7)$ %.



**Figure 4.16:** MBR-1 influent and effluent total nitrogen (TN) concentrations for days 1–119. (A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

The influent of MBR-2 had an average TN concentration of  $22.9\pm4.7 \text{ mg/L}$ . As with MBR-1, two different periods of influent TN level were observed (Figure 4.17). For days 1–54, the average influent TN concentration was  $18.4\pm2.0 \text{ mg/L}$ . For days 57–126, the average influent TN concentration was  $26.4\pm2.7 \text{ mg/L}$ . Between days 2–40,  $[\text{TN}]_{inf}$  was in the same order of magnitude as  $[\text{NH}_4^+ + \text{NO}_2^- + \text{NO}_3^-]_{inf}$ . Between days 43–54,  $[\text{TN}]_{inf}$  was on average  $6.2\pm2.2 \text{ mg/L}$  lower than  $[\text{NH}_4^+ + \text{NO}_2^- + \text{NO}_3^-]_{inf}$ . From day 57 onward,  $[\text{TN}]_{inf}$  was always higher than  $[\text{NH}_4^+ + \text{NO}_2^- + \text{NO}_3^-]_{inf}$ , with an average difference of  $9.3\pm5.3 \text{ mg/L}$ . The effluent TN

concentration fluctuated between days 1–71 within 11.9 and 19.2 mg/L. Between days 75–82, lower TN concentrations were measured in the effluent (between 2.5–6.2 mg/L). On day 85,  $[TN]_{eff}$  increased again to 17.2 mg/L. Between days 85–116,  $[TN]_{eff}$  decreased steadily down to 9.8 mg/L. From day 119 onward,  $[TN]_{eff}$  was 15.4 mg/L, except for day 123 (2.5 mg/L). Between days 1–12,  $[TN]_{eff}$  was on average 4.2±0.3 mg/L lower than  $[NH_4^+ + NO_2^- + NO_3^-]_{eff}$ . From day 15 onward,  $[TN]_{eff}$  was similar to  $[NH_4^+ + NO_2^- + NO_3^-]_{eff}$ , except for days 75–78, where  $[TN]_{eff}$  was on average 2.3±0.2 mg/L lower than  $[NH_4^+ + NO_2^- + NO_3^-]_{eff}$ . The removal efficiency of TN in MBR-2 fluctuated between 16–34% during the period of days 1–26, with the exception of day 5 (with a removal efficiency of 0%). For days 29–54, the TN removal efficiency was lower and stayed between 6–14%, with the exception of days 43 and 50 (with a removal efficiency of 0%). Between days 57–68, the removal efficiency increased again (23–52%). Between days 75–82, higher TN removal efficiencies were observed, between 77 and 91%. On day 85, the removal efficiency increased, up to 64%. On days 119 and 126, lower TN removal efficiencies were observed, 26 and 32%, respectively. On day 123, an abrupt increase in the TN removal efficiency (90%) was found.



**Figure 4.17:** MBR-2 influent and effluent total nitrogen (TN) concentrations for days 1–126. (T1 = increase of HRT; T2 = decrease of HRT; A1 = increase of aeration; A2 = further increase of aeration; B = addition biocarriers; OLR = increase of organic loading rate)

### 4.3 Nitrification Activity Batch Tests

#### 4.3.1 Series A

#### MLSS and MLVSS

The MLSS and MLVSS concentrations in test beaker A1 were 950 and 940 mg/L, respectively. This results in a MLVSS/MLSS ratio of 0.99. The MLSS and MLVSS contents in test beaker A2 were 2210 and 2130 mg/L, respectively, resulting in a MLVSS/MLSS ratio of 0.96.

#### DO and T

Dissolved oxygen was monitored during the tests by performing a measurement at the same time as sampling. The levels of dissolved oxygen stayed in the range of 6.8–7.9 mg/L in both tests. No trend in DO levels was observed during the nitrification activity tests. Temperature was measured simultaneously with DO at the time of sampling. The magnetic stirring plates had a heating option as well. During the first hour of the test, this heating function was turned on accidentally in test A1, which caused the temperature to be around 26 °C. When the heating was turned off, the beaker started to cool down to room temperature again. At t = 2 h and t = 4 h, the temperature decreased down to 24.1 °C and 22.1 °C, respectively. In test beaker A2, the temperature showed only limited variation and stayed between 22.1 and 23.7 °C.

#### Nitrogen and COD

The development of the concentrations of ammonia-N, nitrite-N, nitrate-N, TN, and COD during batch tests A1 and A2 is shown in Figure 4.18 and Figure 4.19 respectively. Ammonia-N concentrations steadily decreased in both test beakers. The ammonia-N concentration at the beginning of the test was about 23 mg/L. After 4 hours, ammonia-N levels were reduced by more than half of the original concentration in both test beakers. The ammonia-N concentration after 4 hours in test beakers A1 and A2 was 11.3 and 9.1 mg/L, respectively. The ammonia removal rates of tests A1 and A2 were 2.9 mg N/(L·h) (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.97) and 3.2 mg N/(L·h) (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.97), respectively. The specific ammonia oxidation rates of tests A1 and A2 were 3.1 mg N/(g VSS·h) and 1.5 mg N/(g VSS·h), respectively.

The nitrite-N concentration increased slightly in the beginning, in both batch test, but stayed constant after. In test A1, the initial nitrite-N concentration was 1.0 mg/L. In the following samples, from t = 30 min to t = 4 h, the nitrite-N concentration stayed between 1.2 and 1.3 mg/L. For test A2, the nitrite-N concentrations at the start of the test and at t = 30 min were 0.5 and 0.9 mg/L, respectively. In the following samples, from t = 1 h to t = 4 h, the nitrite-N concentration stayed between 1.2 and 1.3 mg/L.

Nitrate-N levels showed a steady increase in both tests, almost by a factor of 2. During test A1, the nitrate-N concentration increased from 2.5 to 5.0 mg/L. In test A2, the nitrate-N concentration more than doubled during the course of the test, from 1.9 mg/L initially to 4.1 mg/L at t = 4 h.

The total nitrogen concentration at the beginning of the test was 20 mg/L for both test beakers. After one hour, a remarkably low concentration of 8 mg/L was observed in beaker A1. This seems to be an outlier since the previous and following total nitrogen concentrations stayed around 17–20 mg/L. For test beaker A2, the total nitrogen concentration fluctuated during the test, but did not show any apparent increase or decrease over the testing period. In the first 4 samples of both batch tests, the sum of the inorganic nitrogen forms (ammonia, nitrite, and nitrate) was higher than the corresponding TN concentration.

The COD concentrations did not show an increasing or decreasing trend during both tests. The COD concentration in test beaker A1 fluctuated during the test, but remained within a 20% deviation from the average concentration of 97 mg/L. In test beaker A2, the COD concentration showed fewer fluctuations and was 151 mg/L on average.



**Figure 4.18:** Concentrations of ammonia-N, nitrite-N, nitrate-N, TN and COD during the course of nitrification activity batch test A1.



**Figure 4.19:** Concentrations of ammonia-N, nitrite-N, nitrate-N, TN and COD during the course of nitrification activity batch test A2.

#### 4.3.2 Series B

#### MLSS and MLVSS

During the weeks leading up to the tests, the mixed liquor overflow of the MBRs was collected, so it could be used to test the nitrification activity of the sludge. The MBRs had been operated under a higher aeration regime for three months. Before the start of the tests, the concentration of MLSS and MLVSS in the batch test mixed liquor was measured. For test beaker B1, the MLSS and MLVSS concentrations were 2410 and 2280 mg/L, respectively. The MLVSS/MLSS ratio was thus 0.95. For test beaker B2, the MLSS and MLVSS concentrations were slightly higher, 2470 and 2400 mg/L, respectively. This results in a MLVSS/MLSS ratio of 0.97.

#### DO and T

Dissolved oxygen concentrations of the mixed liquor during the nitrification activity test were monitored at the time of sampling. In test beaker B1, the DO concentration was 7.2 mg/L on average. The DO concentration slightly increased over the course of the batch test, from 6.7 to 7.7 mg/L, but stayed within 10% of the average value. In test beaker B2, no trend was observed in DO levels. The average DO concentration in test beaker B2 was 6.3 mg/L. DO levels varied during the test between 6.1 and 7.1 mg/L and were overall slightly lower than in test beaker B1. The temperature of the mixed liquor was measured simultaneously with the DO concentration in both test beakers. The average temperature in test beakers B1 and B2 was 20.7 and 20.5 °C, respectively. The temperature showed no trend and did not fluctuate substantially in both test beakers.

#### Nitrogen and COD

The obtained concentrations of ammonia-N and nitrate-N of batch tests B1 and B2 are plotted in Figures 4.20 and 4.21 respectively. The measured concentrations of ammonia-N showed considerable fluctuations in test beakers B1 and B2. In test beaker B1, the initial ammonia-N concentration was 15.3 mg/L, which is lower than expected after the addition of the ammonia standard (see Section 3.4). In the first 30 minutes of test B1, the ammonia-N concentrations decreased to 4.5 mg/L. The following sample, at 45 minutes, was 13.7 mg/L. From t = 45 minutes until t = 2 h, the ammonia-N concentration decreased again, reaching 0.5 mg/L at t = 2 h. From t = 2 h, an increase in ammonia-N was observed in the next samples of the following hour. At t = 3 h, ammonia-N reached a concentration of 7.6 mg/L. The concentration of ammonia-N was very low for the last samples of test B1, with 0.1 mg/L and 0.5 mg/L at t = 3.5 h and t = 4 h, respectively. The initial ammonia-N concentration in test beaker B2 was 23.5 mg/L. A linear decrease (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.98) of the ammonia-N concentration was observed for the first hour of the test, with a concentration of 5.0 mg/L at t = 1. The ammonia-N concentrations fluctuated between every following sample, with a maximum of 17.4 mg/L at t = 1.5 h and a minimum in the last sample of 0.0 mg/L at t = 4 h. The ammonia removal rates of tests B1 and B2 were 2.7 mg N/(L·h) (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.48) and

4.0 mg N/(L·h) (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.53), respectively. The specific ammonia oxidation rates of tests B1 and B2 were 1.2 mg N/(g VSS·h) and 1.7 mg N/(g VSS·h), respectively.

The nitrate-N concentrations steadily increased during the course of both batch tests B1 and B2. In test B1, the initial nitrate-N concentration was 1.8 mg/L. During the whole test, the nitrate-N concentration increased linearly ( $R^2 = 0.97$ ). The final nitrate-N concentration, at t = 4 h, was 4.5 mg/L. In test B2, the concentration of nitrate-N was 1.4 mg/L at the start of the test. Hereafter, the nitrate-N concentration increased linearly ( $R^2 = 0.94$ ) for the entire duration of the batch test. At t = 4 h, the nitrate-N concentration was 7.5 mg/L in test B2, which is 3.1 mg/L higher than for test B1.

The COD concentration in test beaker B1 was, on average, 105 mg/L. During the entire batch test, the COD concentration did not show a clear trend and stayed within the 10% range of the average concentration. In test B2, the initial COD concentration was 105 mg/L. The COD concentration in the following samples was 70 mg/L on average, lower than the initial concentration. A minimum of 55 mg/L was observed at t = 2 h. The COD concentration in the last sample of test B2, at t = 4 h, gave an invalid value (-755 mg/L), and is therefore not plotted on Figure 4.21.



**Figure 4.20:** Concentrations of ammonia-N, nitrite-N, nitrate-N, TN and COD during the course of nitrification activity batch test B1.



**Figure 4.21:** Concentrations of ammonia-N, nitrite-N, nitrate-N, TN and COD during the course of nitrification activity batch test B2.

# Chapter 5

## DISCUSSION

## 5.1 Nitrogen Balance in Samples

For some MBR influent and effluent samples, the sum of concentrations of inorganic nitrogen species (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) exceeded the concentration of total nitrogen, as reported in Section [4.2.5]. This observation contradicts theoretical expectations, since TN encompasses both organic and inorganic nitrogen forms (Figure 1.2). Consequently, TN can either be equal to the inorganic nitrogen forms (in the absence of organic nitrogen) or higher than the inorganic nitrogen forms. The fact that the TN concentration was occasionally lower than the inorganic nitrogen forms indicates potential inaccuracies in the determination of TN, ammonia, nitrite, or nitrate concentrations. Firstly, small volume errors could have occurred during sample transfer and dilution. Although care was taken to exercise caution in the laboratory to minimize such human errors, they can still occur inadvertently. A second potential source of errors stems from the indirect measurement method for total nitrogen. During this method, all the organic and inorganic nitrogen forms are oxidized and converted to nitrate, which is then quantified as the indicative TN concentration (Baird et al., 2017). If this conversion does not proceed completely, the TN concentration could be underestimated. During the spectrophotometric measurement of ammonia and nitrite, they have to form a colored complex first. Similar to the TN measurement, if this chemical reaction does not proceed completely, it could lead to an underestimation of the concentrations. Lastly, inherent uncertainties associated with spectrophotometry further contribute to potential errors. These include variations in absorbance repeatability among samples and the possibility of spectrophotometer drift (Sooväli et al., 2006). The combined effect of underestimation of TN and overestimation of ammonia, nitrite, and nitrate could have led to TN concentrations lower than the sum of the concentrations of the inorganic nitrogen forms.

## 5.2 Membrane Fouling

The transmembrane pressure can be used as an indicator for the degree of membrane fouling (lorhemen et al., 2016). During MBR operation, the TMP measurement data was used to organize the physical cleaning of the membrane. At the beginning of the experimental period, the membrane fouling rate of both MBRs was similar, and their membranes were cleaned after approximately 2 weeks. After T1 (*i.e.*, the increase of HRT in MBR-2 on day 26), the TMP of MBR-2 remained zero, while the TMP of MBR-1 rose up to 19 kPa. The increased HRT is a potential cause for the lower fouling rate of MBR-2 after T1. Sludge viscosity has the tendency to decrease when the HRT is increased, resulting in a lower membrane fouling rate (lorhemen et al., 2016). On the day when the TMP of MBR-1 started to increase, its MLSS concentration was almost double that of MBR-2. As lower MLSS concentrations generally lead to a lower fouling potential (lorhemen et al., 2016), this might be another driver for the lower fouling rate of MBR-2.

Following the increase in aeration on day 36 (A1), the TMP of both MBR-1 and MBR-2 gradually decreased over time, without any cleaning being implemented. In the literature, higher air flow rates are generally associated with lower membrane fouling, because the sheer force of the rising air bubbles intensifies (Yusuf et al., 2016). By increasing the aeration in both MBRs, the accumulated cake layer could have been gradually removed by the scouring action of the air bubbles, causing a spontaneous decrease in their TMPs. In MBR-1, the TMP started to rise again after the spontaneous decrease, but at a slower rate than before A1. The need for physical cleaning of MBR-1 was reduced from every 2 weeks to every 20 to 25 days after A1. Contrary to MBR-1, the TMP of MBR-2 stayed zero after the spontaneous decrease. Even after T2 (*i.e.*, reduction of HRT on day 47), the TMP of MBR-2 maintained zero. After A1, the aeration of both MBR-1 and MBR-2 was increased to the same extent, so a similar fouling rate was expected. From the MLSS concentration data, a higher fouling rate would be expected in MBR-2, as its MLSS concentrations were lower than those of MBR-1 in this period. A possible explanation for the absence of fouling in MBR-2 is that its sludge maintained its low viscous properties even after the decrease in HRT. After the second increase in aeration A2, on day 92, the TMP in both MBRs decreased. The higher sheer force of rising air bubbles probably in some way removed the accumulated cake layer in both MBRs, resulting in a lower TMP.

It is generally accepted in the literature that the fouling rate of MB-MBRs is lower than for MBRs, mainly due to the scouring effects of the biocarriers (Chen et al.) 2016a). After the addition of biocarriers to MBR-2, the TMP stayed zero for 20 days. However, the TMP of MBR-2 had been zero for the past three weeks as well. The hypothesis of the MB-MBR having a lower fouling rate can therefore not be confirmed with great certainty from this experimental data.

After the increase in organic loading rate (OLR), the TMP of MBR-2 increased at a higher rate than before. This is in line with the reported phenomena in the literature (Johir et al.) 2012). In MBR-1, only 2 data points for TMP are available after cleaning after the increase in OLR, not enough to observe an increase in fouling rate for this reactor.

## 5.3 Treatment Performance of MBR and MB-MBR

### COD Removal in MBR and MB-MBR

The synthetic greywater had a COD/BOD<sub>5</sub> ratio of 1.45, which is relatively low compared to the average for real greywater (Shaikh & Ahammed, 2020). The COD/BOD<sub>5</sub> ratio is below 2.5, meaning that the organics in the synthetic greywater used in this thesis are relatively easily biodegradable (Li et al., 2009). The COD removal of both MBRs was generally similar to the results found in the literature during the entire experimental period. They had an overall removal efficiency of 90±4 and 89±5% for MBR-1 and MBR-2, respectively. This falls within the expected range from the literature for MBR systems treating greywater (Oteng-Peprah et al., 2018a), suggesting a well-developed community of heterotrophic microorganisms in both MBRs. The average effluent COD concentrations were  $39\pm14$  and  $41\pm17$  mg/L for MBR-1 and MBR-2, respectively. This corresponds to values reported in previous studies on greywater treatment by submerged MBRs (Bani-Melhem et al.), 2015; Winward et al., 2008). However, some papers that had comparable influent COD concentrations reported lower mean effluent COD concentrations (*i.e.*, 24-26 mg/L) than observed in this thesis (Huelgas & Funamizu, 2010; Lesjean & Gnirss, 2006). The suspected cause is probably the higher MLSS concentrations of those MBRs, *i.e.*, up to 10-25 g/L. As a probable solution for further reduction of COD levels in the effluent, the reactor could operate at a higher MLSS content. One study operated an MBR with comparable influent COD and MLSS concentrations, but with much lower COD levels in the effluent (9 mg/L on average). This was probably possible due to the relatively high HRT of 36 hours (Liberman et al., 2016). Higher HRTs can indeed improve COD removal, but may deteriorate ammonia removal at excessively high HRT levels (Najmi et al., 2020), as will be discussed later.

Effluent COD concentrations decreased in both MBRs 11 days after the increase in aeration from 0.6 L/min to 1 L/min. This decline can likely be attributed to the increased oxygen availability in the mixed liquor, which stimulated the aerobic metabolism of heterotrophic COD-consuming microorganisms. Literature on COD removal by MB-MBR systems generally does not report significant improvements with respect to standard MBRs (Ivanovic & Leiknes, 2012). After the addition of biocarriers to the standard MBR-2, a decrease in COD was observed in the effluent. However, this cannot certainly be attributed to the addition of biocarriers, since MBR-1 (without biocarriers) showed the same decreasing trend during that period. The observed lower COD concentrations in both MBR-1 and MBR-2, approximately at 20 mg/L, only applied to days 78 and 81. Considering that these samples were collectively analyzed, possible analytical errors could have contributed to the underestimation of COD concentrations across all these samples. Overall, this change still falls within the range of variation in effluent COD concentrations throughout the entire experimental period.

Increasing the MLSS content of both MBRs was attempted by increasing the OLR, which was accompanied by an increase in the food-to-microorganism ratio (F/M) on day 102. This was supposed to allow the microorganisms to grow, eventually resulting in increased MLSS concentrations.

Activated sludge systems need some time to adjust to their new conditions and develop a higher MLSS. The operation of MBR-1 was discontinued 17 days after the increase in OLR, due to a damaged membrane. MBR-2 was still operated for 7 days more, but had experienced a loss of biomass, due to operational problems two weeks prior to the increase in OLR. Moreover, during the 3 weeks after the increase in OLR, the mixed liquor of MBR-1 and MBR-2 was perturbed at several moments (on days 95, 112, and 123). This probably made it difficult for the biomass to further develop. The mentioned technical issues with both MBRs and the limited monitoring time after the increase in OLR limit accurate interpretation of the data.

#### Nitrogen Removal in the MBRs

Ammonia removal improved over the course of the first two weeks of the experimental period, from 9 to 68%. The simultaneous increase of nitrite and nitrate in the MBR-1 effluent indicated that nitrification took place as an ammonia removal mechanism, since nitrite and nitrate are reaction products of the nitrification process. During that time, MLSS and MLVSS concentrations were 2–3 times higher in MBR-1 compared to MBR-2. The MLVSS content of activated sludge closely relates to the amount of active biomass present, such as, among others, nitrifying microorganisms. This could explain why there was no improved ammonia removal in MBR-2 during that time. The nitrifying microbial community of MBR-1 did, however, not develop sufficiently enough to completely remove the incoming nitrogen load, as effluent ammonia-N levels remained above 7.30 mg/L. After day 29, ammonia concentrations in the effluent increased back to the range of the influent, deteriorating the ammonia removal. Unfortunately, the MLSS data between days 29 and 33 was lost. On the subsequent sampling day (day 36), the MLSS concentration was noted to be more than half of its value before day 29. This observation raises the suspicion that the MLSS concentration has begun to decrease from day 29 onward, possibly explaining the decline in ammonia removal. The abrupt decrease in biomass concentrations within MBR-1 may have stemmed from the clogging of the effluent tube of MBR-1. With organic matter and a certain degree of nitrogen present in the effluent, microbial growth initiated on the inner surfaces of the effluent tubes. As the tubes gradually became clogged, the overflow rate increased, leading to a loss of biomass from the reactor's mixed liquor.

In activated sludge, a minimal DO concentration of 2 mg/L is aimed at for good nitrification (Rieger et al.) 2014). It is important that the whole reactor is sufficiently aerated. If the aeration system is not capable of maintaining sufficient DO concentrations throughout the entire bioreactor, zones of low oxygen levels could arise, which might lead to increased ammonia concentrations in the effluent (Rieger et al.) 2014). To ensure homogeneous and adequate DO concentrations, the aeration of both MBR-1 and MBR-2 was increased on day 36, from 0.6 L/min to 1 L/min. Two weeks after the increase in aeration in MBR-1, ammonia effluent levels dropped to around 1 mg N/L. In MBR-2, which had MLVSS concentrations twice as high as MBR-1, this decline was already realized within one week. The obvious difference in ammonia removal after the increase in aeration suggests that DO levels in the bioreactor were indeed insufficient in certain zones of the MBR reactors. The increased ammonia removal resulted from the higher activity of the ammonia-oxidizing bacteria. Simultaneously, nitrite increased in the effluent of both reactors, to a range of 1–1.5 mg N/L. This observation confirms that the increased activity of AOB is responsible for the improved ammonia removal. The nitrite buildup is much lower than the decrease in ammonia concentrations in the effluent, due to nitrite oxidation by the NOB, the second step in the nitrification process. Two weeks after the nitrite breakthrough in the reactor effluents, nitrite levels returned to concentrations near zero, alluding to a well-developed community of NOB. The development of the NOB became possible after receiving nitrite, supplied by the increased activity of the AOB. The NOB probably needed some time to fully develop, as nitrite oxidation is energetically less favorable than ammonia oxidation. The interpretation of increased nitrification, *i.e.*, AOB and NOB activity, is supported by the simultaneous gradual breakthrough of nitrate in both reactor effluents. Nitrate levels in both reactor effluents increased up to around 10 mg N/L. This suggests nitrification as the main mechanism of ammonia removal in both MBRs. There was also a part of the removed ammonia that did not accumulate as nitrate in the effluent. This can be attributed to denitrification in the inner part of sludge flocs and the assimilation of nitrogen in new biomass.

#### Nitrogen Removal in the MB-MBR

Biomass carriers were introduced into MBR-2 on day 71, transforming it into a MB-MBR. Microorganisms started to form biofilms on the carriers. Four days after the addition of biocarriers, the effluent nitrate concentration of MBR-2 decreased by nearly 50%. In less than two weeks, the nitrate effluent concentration of the MB-MBR stabilized around 1 mg N/L. During this period, ammonia removal stayed constant, implying that denitrification improved in the reactor, subsequently reducing nitrate in the effluent. The simultaneous improved TN removal efficiency further confirms this hypothesis. In MBR-1, nitrate in the effluent remained around 10 mg N/L after day 71. The biocarriers in MBR-2 are, thus, most probably responsible for the increased denitrification during that period of time. This observation complies with the existing literature on MB-MBRs, where it has been established that anoxic zones in the inner part of well-developed biofilms create a niche for the denitrification process and therefore improve nitrate removal in MBRs. After the introduction of biocarriers, ammonia and nitrite concentrations increased in the MBR-2 effluent for a period of approximately 10 days. This could be due to the beginning of the development of nitrifying communities on the biocarriers. The ammonia and nitrite levels dropped back to previous values in the effluent in less than 2 weeks, possibly due to the stabilization of the AOB and NOB communities in the attached growth. It has to be noted that the differences in ammonia and nitrite concentrations are minimal and could have arisen within the uncertainty of the measurements.

A small metal grid was positioned in front of the overflow tube to prevent the biocarriers from escaping the reactor via the overflow. However, by day 85, an issue emerged as certain biocarriers became entangled with the grid, obstructing the overflow mechanism. Due to the grid lacking a top cover, the liquid level within the reactor rose, causing mixed liquor and biocarriers to spill over the grid. This situation led to concerns, such as the loss of attached growth from the biocarriers and the clogging of the overflow tube. The clogged overflow tube posed a potential risk of the liquid level exceeding the reactor's upper limit. To prevent the previously mentioned issues, the

aeration of MBR-2 was temporarily decreased so that the carriers stayed in the lower part of the reactor. In the meantime, a new grid with a smaller grid size and an added top part was constructed. The new grid effectively prevented carriers from entering the overflow tube. Once a week, accumulated carriers were removed from the grid surface with a brush. From day 85, aeration was decreased in MBR-2, and nitrate increased back to the range from before the introduction of the biocarriers (approximately 9 mg/L). The biocarriers were not homogeneously distributed anymore in the reactor since the majority accumulated at the bottom. Nitrate was still produced at the same rate by the nitrifying community. Due to the flow pattern and sunken biocarriers after day 85, most of the nitrate did not reach the anoxic denitrifying zones efficiently, resulting in the breakthrough of nitrate in the effluent of MBR-2. Ammonia and nitrite in the effluent stayed the same as before day 85. Nitrification was, unlike denitrification, performed by the suspended biomass. The reduced aeration was thus still sufficient to evenly distribute the MLSS and provide adequate DO levels throughout the reactor.

Aeration was increased again in both MBRs on day 92. The biocarriers in MBR-2 were much more homogeneously distributed due to improved mixing by the rising air bubbles. Nitrate removal was expected to improve hereafter. However, nitrate in the effluent did not decrease. The additional operational issues on days 95, 112, and 123 probably obstructed the re-development of biofilms on the carriers.

## 5.4 Nitrification Activity of the MBR Mixed Liquor

The MLSS concentration of test A1 was 950 mg/L, which corresponds to the lower MLSS concentration range in the MBRs of the first two weeks of the operational period. Tests A2, B1, and B2 had higher MLSS concentrations, between 2200 and 2500 mg/L. The COD content of the batch test synthetic greywater was reduced to minimize the activity of heterotrophic microorganisms. Because the autotrophic nitrifiers exhibit a slow growth rate, it was assumed that the biomass concentration remained constant throughout the batch tests (Li et al. 2006). The MLVSS/MLSS ratios of the batch tests were between 0.95 and 0.99, suggesting that almost all the suspended solids from the sludge were organic. Some other papers that worked with membrane bioreactors for wastewater treatment documented MLVSS/MLSS ratios of up to 0.90 (He et al., 2006) Kim et al. 2021; Sabouhi et al., 2020). The synthetic greywater used for the batch tests in this thesis was probably characterized by minimal inorganic content. This assumption is supported by the high biodegradability derived from the BOD<sub>5</sub> tests. Additionally, potential laboratory inaccuracies during the determination of MLSS and MLVSS contents might have contributed to an overestimation of the MLVSS/MLSS ratios.

The specific ammonia oxidation rate (SAOR) from test A1 was 3.13 mg  $NH_4^+-N/g$  VSS·h, which was more than double that from tests A2, B1, and B2. The SAOR of all tests falls within the range reported in the literature (Dytczak et al., 2008; Scheumann & Kraume, 2009). A possible explanation for the lower SAOR of tests A2, B1, and B2 is that they coincidentally might have contained more dead and old biomass than test A1. The sludge had been stored for some time (up

to two weeks) before the batch test, which probably resulted in the die-off of part of the nitrifiers. As the MLVSS concentration represents both living and dead biomass (Hasar & Kinaci, 2004), this hypothesis cannot therefore be verified with the available information.

The measured ammonia concentrations from tests B1 and B2 did show a linearly decreasing trend. The R<sup>2</sup> of the linear regressions of the ammonia concentrations in tests B1 and B2 were 0.48 and 0.53, respectively. The ammonia concentrations even increased several times during the tests. The suspected reason for this is the poor mixing and the subsequent limited oxygen transport in the beakers. The mixed liquor of tests B1 and B2 was sampled more frequently than tests A1 and A2, causing the liquid level to decrease faster during the course of the tests. Due to the low liquid level, the aeration stone did not stay completely submerged at all times during the tests. Mixing was also not optimal during tests B1 and B2, due to the continuous presence of a thermometer and pH probe combined with the low liquid level. The more limited mixing and oxygen transport could have created zones of low DO levels in the batch test mixed liquor, where nitrification could have been limited. Sampling from such a zone in the mixed liquor could have led to higher ammonia concentrations than the previous sample. Moreover, errors due to the spectrophotometric analysis, as discussed in Section **5.1** could have exacerbated this.

Ammonia removal in tests A1 and A2 occurred linearly, each with an R<sup>2</sup> of 0.97. This indicates zero-order kinetics, suggesting that ammonia oxidation was not inhibited by the concentrations of greywater components or formed products (Li et al., 2006). After 4 hours, *i.e.*, the duration of the tests, ammonia concentrations were reduced to approximately 10 mg N/L. In tests B1 and B2, ammonia levels were near 0 mg/L at the end of the tests. The MLSS contents of tests B1 and B2 were relatively similar to those of tests A1 and A2. It was expected that the microbial communities in the sludge from the series B tests could have been changed towards a higher nitrification capacity in order to almost completely remove ammonia. The sludge from test series B was obtained from the MBRs after they had been operated for three months under a higher aeration regime, which might have caused a shift in the nitrifying populations (Kraume et al., 2005). However, the calculated SAORs of tests B1 and B2 are similar to those of test A2, indicating that they have similar nitrification activities. The uncertainty of the ammonia measurements and the low R<sup>2</sup> of the SAORs of test series B make it impossible to confirm any hypothesis explaining differences in ammonia removal between test series A and B.

The nitrogen originating from oxidized ammonia undergoes three potential fates: it is incorporated into new biomass as organic nitrogen by the nitrifiers, converted into nitrite and nitrate through nitrification, or subjected to denitrification, leading to its conversion into gaseous nitrogen. Nitrifiers are slow growers, so the fraction of nitrogen incorporated into new biomass is typically limited during short batch tests like these. Tests A1 and A2 demonstrated minimal nitrite accumulation, suggesting an equilibrium between the two nitrification phases: nitrite production (through ammonia oxidation) and nitrite removal (via oxidation to nitrate). In all the batch tests (A1, A2, B1, and B2), the accumulation of nitrate was lower than the oxidation of ammonia, indicating that a portion of the nitrified ammonia underwent subsequent denitrification. Denitrification could have taken place inside granular sludge flocs. Test B2 did not exhibit a decreased nitrate buildup com-

pared to B1, implying a comparable level of denitrification in both tests. Therefore, the biocarriers used in B2 probably did not effectively enhance denitrification in this scenario, possibly due to the limited extent of microbial growth attached to the introduced biocarriers.

The total nitrogen concentrations from the samples during the first two hours of tests A1 and A2 were lower than the corresponding inorganic nitrogen  $(NH_4^+, NO_2^-, and NO_3^-)$  concentrations. This is not possible and probably originated from incorrect measurements, as discussed in Section [5.1] It is interesting to note that this was only the case for the first half of the batch tests. Over the course of the batch tests, the dissolved inorganic nitrogen declined, due to bioaccumulation and denitrification. The samples of mixed liquor were filtered before analysis, which excluded the assimilated nitrogen from TN measurements. Simultaneously, the dissolved organic nitrogen content increased during the batch tests progressed, the rise in organic nitrogen content and the decline in inorganic nitrogen content led to an increasing discrepancy between total nitrogen and inorganic nitrogen concentrations. This might explain why TN surpassed inorganic nitrogen concentrations during the later stages of the tests.

The batch tests had some limitations that could be improved in the future. To characterize the nitrification activity more specifically per MBR, the sludge of only one MBR should be used per batch test. Differences in HRT, for example, can influence the nitrification activity. These effects could not be investigated in the batch tests, because they used mixed overflow sludge from both reactors. A second point of improvement is the batch test volume. Lager beakers should be used to optimize mixing and aeration. Moreover, a higher number of replicates can always help increase the reliability of the obtained results.

### 5.5 Comparison of MBR Effluent with Reuse Guidelines

In this thesis, the greywater treatment performance of MBRs under different operational conditions was monitored. Table 5.1 lists the average effluent quality of the MBRs once they stabilized to their operational conditions, together with the ISO 30500 and Italian guidelines on the reuse of greywater. An overview of more guidelines can be found in Table 1.2

The pH of the mixed liquor in both MBRs, which was assumed to be representative for the effluent pH, was continuously measured. In all three considered MBR phases, the pH dropped below the minimal pH criterion for non-potable reuse. A pH below 4 was recorded in MBR-1 when it was operated under the optimized aeration flow rate of 1 L/min. The measured pH of the MB-MBR system was at all times below the minimum required pH level of 6. However, the pH sensors of both MBRs were often not completely submerged in the mixed liquor, which reduces the reliability of their measurements. If these low pH levels were in fact prevailing in the MBRs, nitrification was observed during the experimental period, questioning the reliability of the pH measurements.

**Table 5.1:** The effluent quality of the MBRs operating under low aeration conditions ( $Q_{air,low}$ ), MBRs operating under optimized aeration conditions ( $Q_{air,opt}$ ), and the MB-MBR system, along with the corresponding water quality criteria outlined in the ISO 30500 and Italian guidelines for wastewater reuse. The aeration flow rates of  $Q_{air,opt}$  and  $Q_{air,low}$  were 0.6 and 1 L/min, respectively. Guideline criteria are retrieved from Reynaert et al. (2020).

Parameter		$MBR^{(1)}$	<b>MBR</b> <sup>(2)</sup>	MB-MBR <sup>(3)</sup>	Italy	ISO 30500
		Q <sub>air,low</sub>	Q <sub>air,opt</sub>			
pН		5.5 – 7.9	3.8 - 6.8	5.2 - 5.6	6.0 - 9.5	6 – 9
COD	mg/L	27 – 108 (51)	16 – 78 (38)	18 – 42 (27)	≤ 100	≤ 50
ΤN	mg N/L	11 – 18 (15)	8 – 21 (15)	2 – 7 (4)	≤ 15	
TN removal	%	0 - 34 (20)	0 - 72 (34)	77 – 91 (85)		≥ 70
Ammonia	mg N/L	6 - 21 (14)	< 1.5	1 – 3 (2)	≤ 1.6	
Nitrite	mg N/L	< 1.5	< 1.5	< 0.5		
Nitrate	mg N/L	0-5(1)	2 – 12 (9)	1 – 4 (2)		

<sup>(1)</sup> Average effluent quality of MBR-1 and MBR-2 between days 1 and 36.

<sup>(2)</sup> Average effluent quality of MBR-1 (between days 54 and 92) and MBR-2 (between days 43 and 71).

<sup>(3)</sup> Average effluent quality of MBR-2 between days 78 and 85.

The MBRs operated at low aeration (*i.e.*, an air flow rate of 0.6 L/min) and did not comply with either of the guidelines, which had a COD criterium (ISO 30500 and Italy). It might be noteworthy that only one sample during this phase exceeded the COD limit of Italy of 100 mg/L, while all the other samples had a concentration below 70 mg/L. The exceeded COD sample may, however, not be ignored, as guidelines or regulations should be fulfilled at all times. Sampling of the MBR effluent only took place every 4 days, leaving the complete image of the effluent quality missing. The single exceeding COD sample could have been an indication of a recurring phenomenon. The ammonia and total nitrogen guidelines were not met by the MBR system at low aeration. Increasing the aeration flow rate from 0.6 L/min to 1 L/min caused an improvement in the removal of COD, TN, and ammonia. All the measured effluent concentrations of COD were below the criterium of 100 mg/L of the Italian guidelines but did not fulfill the required criterium of the ISO 30500 guidelines. Ammonia removal was adequately improved, resulting in compliance with all the selected guidelines that specify maximal ammonia concentrations (Italy and China in Table **1.2**). Total nitrogen, however, did not meet either the ISO 30500 or the Italian criteria for reuse. This is due to the nitrate buildup as a result of the improved nitrification.

During the selected stabilized state, the MB-MBR removed COD below the maximum concentrations presented by the ISO 30500 and Italian guidelines. The ammonia effluent concentrations were below the required effluent concentrations of the North Carolinian and Chinese guidelines (7.8 and 6 mg N/L, respectively), but not for the Italian guidelines (1.6 mg N/L). The total nitrogen

removal efficiency and effluent concentrations were adequate at all times in accordance with ISO 30500 and Italian guidelines, thanks to the improved nitrate removal by the biofilms. The treatment performance of the MB-MBR was assessed for a time series of only 8 days. Operational problems occurred after this period, causing an immediate deterioration of the nitrate removal. Therefore, only the time series of days 78 to 85 is used in this chapter to assess compliance with the guidelines, as it is perceived as the stabilized treatment performance of the MB-MBR system. Even though the effluent quality from this period complies with the literature () it remains a limitation in this thesis research. The effluent quality values presented in Table 5.1 of the MB-MBR give a hint of the potential of this technology for the removal of nitrate.

Most guidelines include constraints for turbidity, suspended solids,  $BOD_5$ , and microbial parameters, as can be seen in Table 1.2 In this thesis, however, these parameters were not monitored in the MBR effluent. Investigating compliance of the MBR effluent with the complete criteria of existing guidelines for non-potable reuse was therefore not possible. Sampling of the MBR effluent was carried out only twice a week, resulting in a less complete insight into the MBR treatment performance and any possible contaminant breakthroughs. This is especially important when effluent contaminant concentrations approach the limits posed by the guidelines. More frequent sampling becomes necessary to validate the continuous compliance of the MBR treatment with the guidelines.
## Chapter 6

# CONCLUSIONS

#### 6.1 General Conclusions

The main objective of this thesis was to obtain sufficient removal of COD and nitrogen in an aerobic MBR system to meet their criteria in existing guidelines for non-potable greywater reuse. This was realized by optimizing the aeration flow rate and adding biocarriers into the submerged MBR. An aeration flow rate of 0.6 L/min to the reactor of 10 L was insufficient for good nitrification. When aeration was supplied at a flow rate of 1 L/min, adequate nitrification  $([NH_4^+]_{eff} < 3 \text{ mg N/L})$  was obtained. Biocarriers were added at a 10% (v/v) filling ratio, ensuring adequate denitrification  $([NO_3^-]_{eff} < 4 \text{ mg/L})$ . The HRT and SRT of the MB-MBR were 15 hours and 21 days, respectively. As a result of these optimized operating conditions, the permeate quality of the MBR system was considerably improved, containing maximal concentrations of COD, total nitrogen, and ammonia of 42 mg/L, 6 mg N/L, and 3 mg N/L, respectively. Therefore, the moving bed MBR met the criteria for COD and total nitrogen removal of the international (ISO 30500) and the Italian guidelines. The maximal ammonia limit of the Italian guidelines was surpassed, but the maximal ammonia limit of the Chinese guidelines was always respected.

The second main objective of this thesis was to elucidate the effects of the optimized operating conditions on the potential for membrane fouling. The membrane fouling rate was found to be much lower in the MBR with an HRT of 20 h, compared to the MBR with an HRT of 15 h. When the MLSS increased, higher membrane fouling rates were observed. Increased aeration also had an impact on membrane fouling, due to the intensifying scouring effect of the rising air bubbles. Every time the air flow rate was increased, the accumulated fouling layer was partly removed, and the subsequent rate of fouling became lower.

The use of aerated MBRs had previously been identified in several research papers as a suitable technology for the treatment of greywater. Its practical implementation in building level greywater reclamation is unfortunately not widespread yet. However, in the past few years, wastewater recovery has gained momentum in Belgium, probably due to the increasing pressure of water scarcity issues. In Ghent, two innovative neighborhood construction projects have included aerated MBRs

for greywater reclamation. In the *Nieuwe Dokken* project, the treated greywater is recuperated as process water for nearby industry (Demolder, 2020), while in the project *Cohousing Jean*, the treated greywater is reused as toilet flushing water (VLAIO, 2022). The research presented in this thesis demonstrated the appropriateness of MBRs, and MB-MBRs specifically, on a lab scale installation, for the treatment of greywater with the intention of non-potable reuse. This supplementary scientific evidence can play a significant role in persuading policymakers and facilitating the broader adoption of MBR systems for small scale greywater reuse.

#### 6.2 Future perspectives

High denitrification was initially obtained in the MB-MBR. Nevertheless, the MB-MBR overflow grid faced rapid obstruction due to the accumulation of small biocarriers. This obstruction resulted in sludge loss from the reactor, necessitating a reduction in aeration to facilitate the repair of the grid. Nitrate removal was subsequently deteriorated, resulting in only a short timeframe of effective treatment performance of the MB-MBR. In future research involving overflow implementation, the potential issue of biocarriers passing through or becoming trapped on the overflow grid should be meticulously considered. To mitigate this, it is advisable to design the grid with a sufficiently small aperture size. Additionally, establishing a regular maintenance routine for frequent inspection and cleaning is crucial, especially when carriers and sludge accumulation onto the grid becomes evident. An additional problem with the biocarriers in the MB-MBR was their tendency to sink and accumulate at the bottom of the reactor. To address this, a strategy should be developed to maintain effective suspension and mixing of the biocarriers throughout the bioreactor.

The primary focus of this thesis was the efficient removal of COD, inorganic nitrogen forms, and total nitrogen from greywater. However, many guidelines for greywater reclamation include a broader range of water quality criteria, including  $BOD_5$ , total suspended solids, total phosphorus, and microbial parameters such as total coliforms or *E. coli*. To comprehensively assess the adherence of the treated effluent of the MBR system to existing guidelines, it is essential to monitor all parameters specified in these guidelines. In future research, an increased sampling frequency of the effluent could be adopted to gain a more complete insight of the MBR system's treatment performance robustness.

Synthetic greywater was produced in the laboratory to simulate greywater, maintaining relatively consistent characteristics. Nonetheless, testing with actual greywater is crucial due to its wider range of pollutants and pathogens. Real greywater production typically exhibits a diurnal contamination load variation. Although this temporal pattern was not replicated in this thesis, exploring the impact of this temporal pattern on the treatment efficiency of the MBR system could bring valuable insights.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Addo-Bankas, O., Zhao, Y., Vymazal, J., Yuan, Y., Fu, J., & Wei, T. (2021). Green walls: A form of constructed wetland in green buildings. *Ecological Engineering*, 169, 106321.
- Al-Khatib, I. A., Al Shami, A. a. H. U., Garcia, G. R., & Celik, I. (2022). Social acceptance of greywater reuse in rural areas. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*, 2022.
- Albalawneh, A. & Chang, T.-K. (2015). Review of the greywater and proposed greywater recycling scheme for agricultural irrigation reuses. *International Journal of Research–Granthaalayah*, 3(12), 16–35.
- Alcalde-Sanz, L. & Gawlik, B. (2017). Minimum quality requirements for water reuse in agricultural irrigation and aquifer recharge. *Towards a legal instrument on water reuse at EU level*.
- Alfiya, Y., Dubowski, Y., & Friedler, E. (2018). Diurnal patterns of micropollutants concentrations in domestic greywater. *Urban Water Journal*, 15(5), 399–406.
- Alresheedi, M. T., Barbeau, B., & Basu, O. D. (2019). Comparisons of nom fouling and cleaning of ceramic and polymeric membranes during water treatment. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 209, 452–460.
- Alsulaili, A. D. & Hamoda, M. F. (2015). Quantification and characterization of greywater from schools. *Water Science and Technology*, 72(11), 1973–1980.
- Antonopoulou, G., Kirkou, A., & Stasinakis, A. S. (2013). Quantitative and qualitative greywater characterization in greek households and investigation of their treatment using physicochemical methods. *Science of the Total Environment*, 454, 426–432.
- Antony, A. & Leslie, G. (2011). Degradation of polymeric membranes in water and wastewater treatment. Advanced Membrane Science and Technology for Sustainable Energy and Environmental Applications, (pp. 718–745).
- Arumugham, T., Kaleekkal, N. J., Gopal, S., Nambikkattu, J., Rambabu, K., Aboulella, A. M., Wickramasinghe, S. R., & Banat, F. (2021). Recent developments in porous ceramic membranes for wastewater treatment and desalination: A review. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 293, 112925.

- Asif, M. B. & Zhang, Z. (2021). Ceramic membrane technology for water and wastewater treatment: A critical review of performance, full-scale applications, membrane fouling and prospects. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 418, 129481.
- Atasoy, E., Murat, S., Baban, A., & Tiris, M. (2007). Membrane bioreactor (mbr) treatment of segregated household wastewater for reuse. *CLEAN–Soil, Air, Water*, 35(5), 465–472.
- Awasthi, A., Gandhi, K., & Rayalu, S. (2023). Greywater treatment technologies: a comprehensive review. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, (pp. 1–30).
- Baird, R., Rice, E., & Eaton, A. (2017). Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewaters. Water Environment Federation, Chair Eugene W. Rice, American Public Health Association Andrew D. Eaton, American Water Works Association.
- Bakare, B. F., Mtsweni, S., & Rathilal, S. (2017). Characteristics of greywater from different sources within households in a community in durban, south africa. *Journal of Water Reuse and Desalination*, 7(4), 520–528.
- Bani-Melhem, K., Al-Qodah, Z., Al-Shannag, M., Qasaimeh, A., Qtaishat, M. R., & Alkasrawi, M. (2015). On the performance of real grey water treatment using a submerged membrane bioreactor system. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 476, 40–49.
- Barbieri, M., Barberio, M. D., Banzato, F., Billi, A., Boschetti, T., Franchini, S., Gori, F., & Petitta, M. (2021). Climate change and its effect on groundwater quality. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, (pp. 1–12).
- Bassyouni, M., Abdel-Aziz, M., Zoromba, M. S., Abdel-Hamid, S., & Drioli, E. (2019). A review of polymeric nanocomposite membranes for water purification. *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*, 73, 19–46.
- Birks, R. & Hills, S. (2007). Characterisation of indicator organisms and pathogens in domestic greywater for recycling. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 129, 61–69.
- Biswas, A. K. & Tortajada, C. (2018). Assessing global water megatrends, (pp. 1–26). Springer.
- Blanky, M., Sharaby, Y., Rodríguez-Martínez, S., Halpern, M., & Friedler, E. (2017). Greywater reuse-assessment of the health risk induced by legionella pneumophila. *Water research*, 125, 410–417.
- Bodnar, I., Szabolcsik, A., Baranyai, E., Uveges, A., & Boros, N. (2014). Qualitative characterization of household greywater in the northern great plain region of hungary. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 13(11), 2717–2724.
- Brears, R. C. (2020). Developing the circular water economy. Springer.
- Burek, P., Satoh, Y., Fischer, G., Kahil, M., Scherzer, A., Tramberend, S., Nava, L., Wada, Y., Eisner, S., & Flörke, M. (2016). Water futures and solution-fast track initiative.

- Byun, S., Davies, S., Alpatova, A., Corneal, L., Baumann, M., Tarabara, V., & Masten, S. (2011).
  Mn oxide coated catalytic membranes for a hybrid ozonation–membrane filtration: Comparison of ti, fe and mn oxide coated membranes for water quality. *Water Research*, 45(1), 163–170.
- Capodaglio, A. G. (2021). Fit-for-purpose urban wastewater reuse: Analysis of issues and available technologies for sustainable multiple barrier approaches. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 51(15), 1619–1666.
- CDC (2022). Water sources: Where your tap water comes from. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/drinking/public/water\_ sources.html#surface.
- Cecconet, D., Callegari, A., Hlavínek, P., & Capodaglio, A. G. (2019). Membrane bioreactors for sustainable, fit-for-purpose greywater treatment: A critical review. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy*, 21, 745–762.
- Chaillou, K., Gérente, C., Andrès, Y., & Wolbert, D. (2011). Bathroom greywater characterization and potential treatments for reuse. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 215, 31–42.
- Chakkaravarthy, D. N. & Balakrishnan, T. (2019). Water scarcity-challenging the future. *International Journal of Agriculture, Environment and Biotechnology*, 12(3), 187–193.
- Chang, J., Lee, W., & Yoon, S. (2017). Energy consumptions and associated greenhouse gas emissions in operation phases of urban water reuse systems in korea. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 141, 728–736.
- Chen, F., Bi, X., & Ng, H. Y. (2016a). Effects of bio-carriers on membrane fouling mitigation in moving bed membrane bioreactor. *Journal of membrane science*, 499, 134–142.
- Chen, J., Zhang, M., Li, F., Qian, L., Lin, H., Yang, L., Wu, X., Zhou, X., He, Y., & Liao, B.-Q. (2016b). Membrane fouling in a membrane bioreactor: high filtration resistance of gel layer and its underlying mechanism. *Water research*, 102, 82–89.
- Chua, H., Arnot, T., & Howell, J. (2002). Controlling fouling in membrane bioreactors operated with a variable throughput. *Desalination*, 149(1-3), 225–229.
- Cook, B. I., Mankin, J. S., & Anchukaitis, K. J. (2018). Climate change and drought: From past to future. *Current Climate Change Reports*, 4, 164–179.
- Cui, Z., Wang, J., Zhang, H., Ngo, H. H., Jia, H., Guo, W., Gao, F., Yang, G., & Kang, D. (2018). Investigation of backwashing effectiveness in membrane bioreactor (mbr) based on different membrane fouling stages. *Bioresource technology*, 269, 355–362.
- Damkjaer, S. & Taylor, R. (2017). The measurement of water scarcity: Defining a meaningful indicator. *Ambio*, 46(5), 513–531.
- Demolder, L. (2020). Demonstration site fact sheet ghent. https: //www.saniwijzer.nl/media/stowa\_saniwijzer\_v2/org/1/documents/ h2020-run4life-factsheet-demosite-ghent.pdf.

- Deng, L., Guo, W., Ngo, H. H., Zhang, X., Wang, X. C., Zhang, Q., & Chen, R. (2016). New functional biocarriers for enhancing the performance of a hybrid moving bed biofilm reactor-membrane bioreactor system. *Bioresource technology*, 208, 87–93.
- Deng, S., Xie, B., Kong, Q., Peng, S., Wang, H., Hu, Z., & Li, D. (2020). An oxic/anoxicintegrated and fe/c micro-electrolysis-mediated vertical constructed wetland for decentralized low-carbon greywater treatment. *Bioresource Technology*, 315, 123802.
- di Biase, A., Kowalski, M. S., Devlin, T. R., & Oleszkiewicz, J. A. (2019). Moving bed biofilm reactor technology in municipal wastewater treatment: A review. *Journal of environmental management*, 247, 849–866.
- Diez, V., Ezquerra, D., Cabezas, J., García, A., & Ramos, C. (2014). A modified method for evaluation of critical flux, fouling rate and in situ determination of resistance and compressibility in mbr under different fouling conditions. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 453, 1–11.
- Ding, A., Liang, H., Li, G., Derlon, N., Szivak, I., Morgenroth, E., & Pronk, W. (2016). Impact of aeration shear stress on permeate flux and fouling layer properties in a low pressure membrane bioreactor for the treatment of grey water. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 510, 382–390.
- Dixon, A., Butler, D., Fewkes, A., & Robinson, M. (2000). Measurement and modelling of quality changes in stored untreated grey water. *Urban Water*, 1(4), 293–306.
- do Couto, E. d. A., Calijuri, M. L., Assemany, P. P., da Fonseca Santiago, A., & de Castro Carvalho,
  I. (2013). Greywater production in airports: Qualitative and quantitative assessment. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 77, 44–51.
- Du, X., Shi, Y., Jegatheesan, V., & Haq, I. U. (2020). A review on the mechanism, impacts and control methods of membrane fouling in mbr system. *Membranes*, 10(2), 24.
- Dytczak, M., Londry, K., & Oleszkiewicz, J. (2008). Nitrifying genera in activated sludge may influence nitrification rates. *Water environment research*, 80(5), 388–396.
- Eriksson, E., Andersen, H. R., Madsen, T. S., & Ledin, A. (2009). Greywater pollution variability and loadings. *Ecological engineering*, 35(5), 661–669.
- FAO (2017). The future of food and agriculture Trends and challenges. Rome.
- Fienen, M. N. & Arshad, M. (2016). The international scale of the groundwater issue. *Integrated groundwater management: concepts, approaches and challenges,* (pp. 21–48).
- Fikri, E., Zulkarnain, O. F., Azizah, R., Latif, M. T., & Firmansyah, Y. W. (2023). The application of membrane bioreactor for greywater treatment. *Journal of Ecological Engineering*, 24(6).
- Filali, H., Barsan, N., Souguir, D., Nedeff, V., Tomozei, C., & Hachicha, M. (2022). Greywater as an alternative solution for a sustainable management of water resources—a review. *Sustainability*, 14(2), 665.

- Finley, S., Barrington, S., & Lyew, D. (2009). Reuse of domestic greywater for the irrigation of food crops. *Water, air, and soil pollution*, 199, 235–245.
- Galinha, C. F., Sanches, S., & Crespo, J. G. (2018). *Membrane bioreactors*, (pp. 209–249). Elsevier.
- Gao, M., Zhang, L., Florentino, A. P., & Liu, Y. (2019). Performance of anaerobic treatment of blackwater collected from different toilet flushing systems: Can we achieve both energy recovery and water conservation? *Journal of hazardous materials*, 365, 44–52.
- Ghaitidak, D. M. & Yadav, K. D. (2013). Characteristics and treatment of greywater—a review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 20, 2795–2809.
- Gil, J., Túa, L., Rueda, A., Montaño, B., Rodríguez, M., & Prats, D. (2010). Monitoring and analysis of the energy cost of an mbr. *Desalination*, 250(3), 997–1001.
- Green, T. R. (2016). Linking climate change and groundwater. *Integrated groundwater management: Concepts, approaches and challenges,* (pp. 97–141).
- Gross, A., Maimon, A., Alfiya, Y., & Friedler, E. (2015). Greywater reuse. CRC Press.
- Guo, S., Wan, Y., Chen, X., & Luo, J. (2021). Loose nanofiltration membrane custom-tailored for resource recovery. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 409, 127376.
- Guo, W., Ngo, H.-H., & Li, J. (2012). A mini-review on membrane fouling. *Bioresource technology*, 122, 27–34.
- Gurung, T. R., Stewart, R. A., Beal, C. D., & Sharma, A. K. (2015). Smart meter enabled water end-use demand data: platform for the enhanced infrastructure planning of contemporary urban water supply networks. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 87, 642–654.
- Hai, F. I., Tessmer, K., Nguyen, L. N., Kang, J., Price, W. E., & Nghiem, L. D. (2011). Removal of micropollutants by membrane bioreactor under temperature variation. *Journal of membrane science*, 383(1-2), 144–151.
- Hamilton, K. A., Hamilton, M. T., Johnson, W., Jjemba, P., Bukhari, Z., LeChevallier, M., & Haas, C. N. (2018). Health risks from exposure to legionella in reclaimed water aerosols: Toilet flushing, spray irrigation, and cooling towers. *Water research*, 134, 261–279.
- Hasar, H. & Kinaci, C. (2004). Empirical model representing microbial activity in a submerged mbr treating strength wastewater. *Desalination*, 170(2), 161–167.
- He, C., Liu, Z., Wu, J., Pan, X., Fang, Z., Li, J., & Bryan, B. A. (2021). Future global urban water scarcity and potential solutions. *Nature Communications*, 12(1), 4667.
- He, S.-b., Xue, G., & Wang, B.-z. (2006). Activated sludge ozonation to reduce sludge production in membrane bioreactor (mbr). *Journal of hazardous materials*, 135(1-3), 406–411.

- He, Z., Li, Y., & Qi, B. (2022). Recent insights into greywater treatment: a comprehensive review on characteristics, treatment technologies, and pollutant removal mechanisms. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29(36), 54025–54044.
- Hess, A. & Morgenroth, E. (2021). Biological activated carbon filter for greywater post-treatment: Long-term toc removal with adsorption and biodegradation. *Water Research X*, 13, 100113.
- Hoffmann, S., Feldmann, U., Bach, P. M., Binz, C., Farrelly, M., Frantzeskaki, N., Hiessl, H., Inauen, J., Larsen, T. A., & Lienert, J. (2020). A research agenda for the future of urban water management: exploring the potential of nongrid, small-grid, and hybrid solutions. *Environmental science & technology*, 54(9), 5312–5322.
- Hong, H., Zhang, M., He, Y., Chen, J., & Lin, H. (2014). Fouling mechanisms of gel layer in a submerged membrane bioreactor. *Bioresource technology*, 166, 295–302.
- Hong, S., Bae, T.-H., Tak, T., Hong, S., & Randall, A. (2002). Fouling control in activated sludge submerged hollow fiber membrane bioreactors. *Desalination*, 143(3), 219–228.
- House-Peters, L. A. & Chang, H. (2011). Urban water demand modeling: Review of concepts, methods, and organizing principles. *Water Resources Research*, 47(5).
- Huelgas, A. & Funamizu, N. (2010). Flat-plate submerged membrane bioreactor for the treatment of higher-load graywater. *Desalination*, 250(1), 162–166.
- Iorhemen, O. T., Hamza, R. A., & Tay, J. H. (2016). Membrane bioreactor (mbr) technology for wastewater treatment and reclamation: membrane fouling. *Membranes*, 6(2), 33.
- Isma, M. A., Idris, A., Omar, R., & Razreena, A. P. (2014). Effects of srt and hrt on treatment performance of mbr and membrane fouling. *Int. J. Chem. Mol. Nucl. Mater. Metall. Eng*, 8, 485–489.
- Ivanovic, I. & Leiknes, T. (2012). The biofilm membrane bioreactor (bf-mbr)—a review. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 37(1-3), 288–295.
- Jabornig, S. & Favero, E. (2013). Single household greywater treatment with a moving bed biofilm membrane reactor (mbbmr). *Journal of membrane science*, 446, 277–285.
- Jalava, M., Kummu, M., Porkka, M., Siebert, S., & Varis, O. (2014). Diet change—a solution to reduce water use? *Environmental research letters*, 9(7), 074016.
- Jarvis, P., Carra, I., Jafari, M., & Judd, S. J. (2022). Ceramic vs polymeric membrane implementation for potable water treatment. *Water Research*, 215, 118269.
- Jeong, H., Broesicke, O. A., Drew, B., & Crittenden, J. C. (2018). Life cycle assessment of smallscale greywater reclamation systems combined with conventional centralized water systems for the city of atlanta, georgia. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 174, 333–342.
- Jeppesen, B. (1996). Domestic greywater re-use: Australia's challenge for the future. *Desalination*, 106(1-3), 311–315.

- Jiang, Y., Liu, Y., Shi, D., Fu, W., Sun, P.-F., Li, J., & Shao, S. (2020). Membrane fouling in a powdered activated carbon–membrane bioreactor (pac-mbr) for micro-polluted water purification: fouling characteristics and the roles of pac. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 277, 122341.
- Johir, M. A., Vigneswaran, S., Sathasivan, A., Kandasamy, J., & Chang, C. (2012). Effect of organic loading rate on organic matter and foulant characteristics in membrane bio-reactor. *Bioresource technology*, 113, 154–160.
- Jones, E. R., Van Vliet, M. T., Qadir, M., & Bierkens, M. F. (2021). Country-level and gridded estimates of wastewater production, collection, treatment and reuse. *Earth System Science Data*, 13(2), 237–254.
- Judd, S. (2008). The status of membrane bioreactor technology. *Trends in biotechnology*, 26(2), 109–116.
- Judd, S. (2021a). Membrane bioreactors hollow fibre configurations. https://www.thembrsite. com/mbr-membrane-configurations/mbr-hollow-fibre-configurations/
- Judd, S. (2021b). Membrane bioreactors multitube configurations. https://www.thembrsite. com/mbr-membrane-configurations/mbr-multitube-configurations/.
- Judd, S. (2022). Key mbr operation and maintenance parameters biological side. https://www.thembrsite.com/biological-processes/ membrane-bioreactor-operation-and-maintenance-biological-side/.
- Judd, S. (2023). Membrane bioreactors flat sheet configurations. https://www.thembrsite. com/mbr-membrane-configurations/mbr-flat-sheet-configurations/.
- Kadewa, W. W., Knops, G., Pidou, M., Jeffrey, P., Jefferson, B., & Le Corre, K. S. (2020). What is the impact of personal care products selection on greywater characteristics and reuse? *Science of the Total Environment*, 749, 141413.
- Kasak, K., Karabelnik, K., Kõiv, M., Jenssen, P., & Mander, Ü. (2011). Phosphorus removal from greywater in an experimental hybrid compact filter system. *WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment*, 145, 649–657.
- Khajvand, M., Mostafazadeh, A. K., Drogui, P., Tyagi, R. D., & Brien, E. (2022). Greywater characteristics, impacts, treatment, and reclamation using adsorption processes towards the circular economy. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, (pp. 1–38).
- Khalil, M. & Liu, Y. (2021). Greywater biodegradability and biological treatment technologies: A critical review. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 161, 105211.
- Khanam, K. & Patidar, S. (2022). Greywater characteristics in developed and developing countries. *Materials Today: Proceedings*, 57, 1494–1499.
- Kim, S. Y., Lopez-Vazquez, C. M., Curko, J., Matosic, M., Svetec, I. K., Štafa, A., Milligan, C., Herrera, A., Maestre, J. P., Kinney, K. A., et al. (2021). Supersaturated-oxygen aeration

effects on a high-loaded membrane bioreactor (hl-mbr): Biological performance and microbial population dynamics. *Science of The Total Environment*, 771, 144847.

- Kobayashi, Y., Ashbolt, N. J., Davies, E. G., & Liu, Y. (2020). Life cycle assessment of decentralized greywater treatment systems with reuse at different scales in cold regions. *Environment international*, 134, 105215.
- Kraume, M., Bracklow, U., Vocks, M., & Drews, A. (2005). Nutrients removal in mbrs for municipal wastewater treatment. *Water Science and Technology*, 51(6-7), 391–402.
- Krueger, E., Rao, P. S. C., & Borchardt, D. (2019). Quantifying urban water supply security under global change. *Global Environmental Change*, 56, 66–74.
- Krzeminski, P., Gil, J. A., van Nieuwenhuijzen, A. F., van der Graaf, J. H., & van Lier, J. B. (2012). Flat sheet or hollow fibre—comparison of full-scale membrane bio-reactor configurations. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 42(1-3), 100–106.
- Kujawa-Roeleveld, K. & Zeeman, G. (2006). Anaerobic treatment in decentralised and sourceseparation-based sanitation concepts. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology*, 5, 115–139.
- Kundzewicz, Z. W., Mata, L., Arnell, N. W., Döll, P., Jimenez, B., Miller, K., Oki, T., Şen, Z., & Shiklomanov, I. (2008). The implications of projected climate change for freshwater resources and their management. *Hydrological sciences journal*, 53(1), 3–10.
- Larsen, T. A. & Gujer, W. (2013). Implementation of source separation and decentralization in cities. *Source separation and decentralization for wastewater management*, (pp. 135–150).
- Layer, M., Villodres, M. G., Hernandez, A., Reynaert, E., Morgenroth, E., & Derlon, N. (2020). Limited simultaneous nitrification-denitrification (snd) in aerobic granular sludge systems treating municipal wastewater: Mechanisms and practical implications. *Water research X*, 7, 100048.
- Le-Clech, P., Chen, V., & Fane, T. A. (2006). Fouling in membrane bioreactors used in wastewater treatment. *Journal of membrane science*, 284(1-2), 17–53.
- Leal, L. H., Temmink, H., Zeeman, G., & Buisman, C. J. (2010). Comparison of three systems for biological greywater treatment. *Water*, 2(2), 155–169.
- Lee, J., Bang, K., Ketchum Jr, L., Choe, J., & Yu, M. (2002). First flush analysis of urban storm runoff. *Science of the total environment*, 293(1-3), 163–175.
- Lee, S.-J. & Kim, J.-H. (2014). Differential natural organic matter fouling of ceramic versus polymeric ultrafiltration membranes. *Water Research*, 48, 43–51.
- Lehtoranta, S., Laukka, V., Vidal, B., Heiderscheidt, E., Postila, H., Nilivaara, R., & Herrmann, I. (2022). Circular economy in wastewater management—the potential of source-separating sanitation in rural and peri-urban areas of northern finland and sweden. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, (pp.97).

- Leiva, E., Rodríguez, C., Sánchez, R., & Serrano, J. (2021). Light or dark greywater for water reuse? economic assessment of on-site greywater treatment systems in rural areas. *Water*, 13(24), 3637.
- Lesjean, B. & Gnirss, R. (2006). Grey water treatment with a membrane bioreactor operated at low srt and low hrt. *Desalination*, 199(1-3), 432–434.
- Leyva-Díaz, J., González-Martínez, A., González-López, J., Muñío, M., & Poyatos, J. (2015). Kinetic modeling and microbiological study of two-step nitrification in a membrane bioreactor and hybrid moving bed biofilm reactor–membrane bioreactor for wastewater treatment. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 259, 692–702.
- Li, F., Wichmann, K., & Otterpohl, R. (2009). Review of the technological approaches for grey water treatment and reuses. *Science of the total environment*, 407(11), 3439–3449.
- Li, H., Yang, M., Zhang, Y., Yu, T., & Kamagata, Y. (2006). Nitrification performance and microbial community dynamics in a submerged membrane bioreactor with complete sludge retention. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 123(1), 60–70.
- Li, Q. & Elimelech, M. (2004). Organic fouling and chemical cleaning of nanofiltration membranes: measurements and mechanisms. *Environmental science & technology*, 38(17), 4683–4693.
- Li, W., Hai, X., Han, L., Mao, J., & Tian, M. (2020). Does urbanization intensify regional water scarcity? evidence and implications from a megaregion of china. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 244, 118592.
- Li, Y., Xi, R., Wang, W., & Yao, H. (2019). The relative contribution of nitrifiers to autotrophic nitrification across a ph-gradient in a vegetable cropped soil. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 19, 1416–1426.
- Liberman, N., Shandalov, S., Forgacs, C., Oron, G., & Brenner, A. (2016). Use of mbr to sustain active biomass for treatment of low organic load grey water. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy*, 18, 1219–1224.
- Liu, J., Yang, H., Gosling, S. N., Kummu, M., Flörke, M., Pfister, S., Hanasaki, N., Wada, Y., Zhang, X., & Zheng, C. (2017). Water scarcity assessments in the past, present, and future. *Earth's future*, 5(6), 545–559.
- Liu, S. X. (2008). Food and agricultural wastewater utilization and treatment. John Wiley & Sons.
- Maeng, S. K., Choi, B. G., Lee, K. T., & Song, K. G. (2013). Influences of solid retention time, nitrification and microbial activity on the attenuation of pharmaceuticals and estrogens in membrane bioreactors. *Water research*, 47(9), 3151–3162.
- Mahmoudi, A., Mousavi, S. A., & Darvishi, P. (2021). Greywater as a sustainable source for development of green roofs: Characteristics, treatment technologies, reuse, case studies and future developments. *Journal of environmental management*, 295, 112991.

- Maimon, A. & Gross, A. (2018). Greywater: Limitations and perspective. *Current opinion in environmental science & health*, 2, 1–6.
- Maimon, A., Tal, A., Friedler, E., & Gross, A. (2010). Safe on-site reuse of greywater for irrigationa critical review of current guidelines. *Environmental science & technology*, 44(9), 3213–3220.
- Markosyan, A. K., Matevosyan, E. N., Tokmajyan, S. H., & Avanesyan, E. V. (2021). The supplies of fresh water and main indicators of their utilization in the world. (1), 66–77.
- McConville, J., Kvarnström, E., Jönsson, H., Kärrman, E., & Johansson, M. (2017). Source separation: Challenges & opportunities for transition in the swedish wastewater sector. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 120, 144–156.
- McIlwaine, S. & Redwood, M. (2010). The use of greywater for irrigation of home gardens in the middle east: Technical, social and policy issues. *Waterlines*, (pp. 90–107).
- Mekonnen, M. M. & Hoekstra, A. Y. (2016). Four billion people facing severe water scarcity. *Science advances*, 2(2), e1500323.
- Merz, C., Scheumann, R., El Hamouri, B., & Kraume, M. (2007). Membrane bioreactor technology for the treatment of greywater from a sports and leisure club. *Desalination*, 215(1-3), 37–43.
- Miura, Y., Hiraiwa, M. N., Ito, T., Itonaga, T., Watanabe, Y., & Okabe, S. (2007). Bacterial community structures in mbrs treating municipal wastewater: relationship between community stability and reactor performance. *Water Research*, 41(3), 627–637.
- Molden, D. (2007). Water for food water for life: A comprehensive assessment of water management in agriculture. Routledge.
- Morandi, C. & Steinmetz, H. (2019). How does greywater separation impact the operation of conventional wastewater treatment plants? *Water Science and Technology*, 79(8), 1605–1615.
- Mueller, B., Payer, F., Goswami, D., Kastury, S., Kornuc, J., Harman, C., Eger, P., Patel, M., Cates, D., & Talkington, D. (2003). Technical and regulatory guidance document for constructed treatment wetlands. *Technology and Regulatory Council*.
- Murray-Playfair, E. (2023). Where does our drinking water actually come from? https://www.waterlogicaustralia.com.au/resources/blog/where-does-our-drinking-water-actually-come-from/.
- Mutamim, N. S. A., Noor, Z. Z., Hassan, M. A. A., Yuniarto, A., & Olsson, G. (2013). Membrane bioreactor: applications and limitations in treating high strength industrial wastewater. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 225, 109–119.
- Nagy, E. (2019). Basic equations of mass transport through a membrane layer. Elsevier.
- Najmi, M., Mehrnia, M. R., Tashauoei, H. R., Iranpoury, A., & Alivand, M. S. (2020). Removal of personal care products (pcps) from greywater using a submerged membrane bioreactor (smbr): the effect of hydraulic retention time. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 8(5), 104432.

- Noah, M. (2002). Graywater use still a gray area. Journal of environmental health, 64(10), 22.
- Nolde, E. (2000). Greywater reuse systems for toilet flushing in multi-storey buildings–over ten years experience in berlin. *Urban water*, 1(4), 275–284.
- Noutsopoulos, C., Andreadakis, A., Kouris, N., Charchousi, D., Mendrinou, P., Galani, A., Mantziaras, I., & Koumaki, E. (2018). Greywater characterization and loadings–physicochemical treatment to promote onsite reuse. *Journal of environmental management*, 216, 337–346.
- Oh, K. S., Leong, J. Y. C., Poh, P. E., Chong, M. N., & Von Lau, E. (2018). A review of greywater recycling related issues: Challenges and future prospects in malaysia. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 171, 17–29.
- Olanrewaju, O. & Ilemobade, A. (2015). Greywater reuse review and framework for assessing greywater treatment technologies for toilet flushing. *Advances in Research*, 5(4), 1–25.
- Ongena, S., Van de Walle, A., Mosquera-Romero, S., Driesen, N., Gutierrez, L., & Rabaey, K. (2023). Comparison of mbr and mbbr followed by uv or electrochemical disinfection for decentralized greywater treatment. *Water Research*, 235, 119818.
- Oron, G., Adel, M., Agmon, V., Friedler, E., Halperin, R., Leshem, E., & Weinberg, D. (2014). Greywater use in israel and worldwide: standards and prospects. *Water research*, 58, 92–101.
- Oteng-Peprah, M., Acheampong, M. A., & DeVries, N. K. (2018a). Greywater characteristics, treatment systems, reuse strategies and user perception—a review. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution*, 229(8), 255.
- Oteng-Peprah, M., De Vries, N., & Acheampong, M. (2018b). Greywater characterization and generation rates in a peri urban municipality of a developing country. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 206, 498–506.
- Otterpohl, R. (2002). Options for alternative types of sewerage and treatment systems directed to improvement of the overall performance. *Water science and technology*, 45(3), 149–158.
- Otterpohl, R., Braun, U., & Oldenburg, M. (2002). Innovative technologies for decentralised wastewater management in urban and peri-urban areas. *Berichte-Wassergute Und Abfall-wirtschaft Technische Universitat Munchen Berichtsheft*, 173, 109–126.
- O'Toole, J., Sinclair, M., Malawaraarachchi, M., Hamilton, A., Barker, S. F., & Leder, K. (2012). Microbial quality assessment of household greywater. *Water research*, 46(13), 4301–4313.
- Palmquist, H. & Hanæus, J. (2005). Hazardous substances in separately collected grey-and blackwater from ordinary swedish households. *Science of the total environment*, 348(1-3), 151–163.
- Pendergrass, A. G., Knutti, R., Lehner, F., Deser, C., & Sanderson, B. M. (2017). Precipitation variability increases in a warmer climate. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 17966.
- Phan, H. V., Hai, F. I., Kang, J., Dam, H. K., Zhang, R., Price, W. E., Broeckmann, A., & Nghiem, L. D. (2014). Simultaneous nitrification/denitrification and trace organic contaminant

(troc) removal by an anoxic–aerobic membrane bioreactor (mbr). *Bioresource technology*, 165, 96–104.

- Pidou, M., Avery, L., Stephenson, T., Jeffrey, P., Parsons, S. A., Liu, S., Memon, F. A., & Jefferson, B. (2008). Chemical solutions for greywater recycling. *Chemosphere*, 71(1), 147– 155.
- Porcelli, N. & Judd, S. (2010). Chemical cleaning of potable water membranes: A review. *Separation and purification technology*, 71(2), 137–143.
- Pradhan, S., Al-Ghamdi, S. G., & Mackey, H. R. (2019). Greywater treatment by ornamental plants and media for an integrated green wall system. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 145, 104792.
- Price, P. B. & Sowers, T. (2004). Temperature dependence of metabolic rates for microbial growth, maintenance, and survival. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(13), 4631–4636.
- Qadir, M., Drechsel, P., Jiménez Cisneros, B., Kim, Y., Pramanik, A., Mehta, P., & Olaniyan, O. (2020). Global and regional potential of wastewater as a water, nutrient and energy source. In *Natural resources forum*, volume 44 (pp. 40–51).: Wiley Online Library.
- Quezada, C., Estay, H., Cassano, A., Troncoso, E., & Ruby-Figueroa, R. (2021). Prediction of permeate flux in ultrafiltration processes: A review of modeling approaches. *Membranes*, 11(5), 368.
- Rabaey, K. (2019). Lecture notes in environmental technology: Water. Faculty of Bioscience Engineering Ghent University.
- Radingoana, M. P., Dube, T., & Mazvimavi, D. (2020). Progress in greywater reuse for home gardening: Opportunities, perceptions and challenges. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C*, 116, 102853.
- Rahman, T. U., Roy, H., Islam, M. R., Tahmid, M., Fariha, A., Mazumder, A., Tasnim, N., Pervez, M. N., Cai, Y., & Naddeo, V. (2023). The advancement in membrane bioreactor (mbr) technology toward sustainable industrial wastewater management. *Membranes*, 13(2), 181.
- Rakesh, S., Ramesh, P., Murugaragavan, R., Avudainayagam, S., & Karthikeyan, S. (2020). Characterization and treatment of grey water: a review. *IJCS*, 8(1), 34–40.
- Ramey, D. F., Munakata-Marr, J., & Cath, T. Y. (2017). Tailored water treatment using enhanced primary clarification for nutrient recovery and production of water for turfgrass irrigation. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 3(4), 671–685.
- Reynaert, E., Greenwood, E. E., Ndwandwe, B., Riechmann, M. E., Sindall, R. C., Udert, K. M., & Morgenroth, E. (2020). Practical implementation of true on-site water recycling systems for hand washing and toilet flushing. *Water research X*, 7, 100051.

- Rieger, L., Jones, R. M., Dold, P. L., & Bott, C. B. (2014). Ammonia-based feedforward and feedback aeration control in activated sludge processes. *Water Environment Research*, 86(1), 63–73.
- Rodríguez, F. A., Reboleiro-Rivas, P., González-López, J., Hontoria, E., & Poyatos, J. M. (2012). Comparative study of the use of pure oxygen and air in the nitrification of a mbr system used for wastewater treatment. *Bioresource Technology*, 121, 205–211.
- Sabouhi, M., Torabian, A., Bozorg, A., & Mehrdadi, N. (2020). A novel convenient approach toward the fouling alleviation in membrane bioreactors using the combined methods of oxidation and coagulation. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, 33, 101018.
- Saidulu, D., Majumder, A., & Gupta, A. K. (2021). A systematic review of moving bed biofilm reactor, membrane bioreactor, and moving bed membrane bioreactor for wastewater treatment: Comparison of research trends, removal mechanisms, and performance. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 9(5), 106112.
- Sapkota, M., Arora, M., Malano, H., Moglia, M., Sharma, A., George, B., & Pamminger, F. (2015). An overview of hybrid water supply systems in the context of urban water management: Challenges and opportunities. *Water*, 7(1), 153–174.
- Scheumann, R. & Kraume, M. (2009). Influence of hydraulic retention time on the operation of a submerged membrane sequencing batch reactor (sm-sbr) for the treatment of greywater. *Desalination*, 246(1-3), 444–451.
- Schimmoller, L. & Kealy, M. J. (2014). *Fit for purpose water: The cost of overtreating reclaimed water.* WateReuse Research Foundation.
- Schmitt, A. & Mendret, J. (2022). D'où vient l'eau du robinet ? comment sa qualité est-elle assurée ? https://theconversation.com/ dou-vient-leau-du-robinet-comment-sa-qualite-est-elle-assuree-187493.
- Schoen, M. E., Ashbolt, N. J., Jahne, M. A., & Garland, J. (2017). Risk-based enteric pathogen reduction targets for non-potable and direct potable use of roof runoff, stormwater, and greywater. *Microbial risk analysis*, 5, 32–43.
- Shaikh, I. N. & Ahammed, M. M. (2020). Quantity and quality characteristics of greywater: a review. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 261, 110266.
- Sheikh, B., Nelson, K. L., Haddad, B., & Thebo, A. (2018). Grey water: agricultural use of reclaimed water in california. *Journal of Contemporary Water Research & Education*, 165(1), 28–41.
- Shi, C., Yan, B., Zuo, X., Wang, C., Li, Z., & Zhu, L. (2022). The effect of aeration mode on the operational effectiveness and membrane bioreactors for greywater treatment and membrane fouling. *Environmental Engineering Research*, 28(2), 210637.
- Shi, X., Tal, G., Hankins, N. P., & Gitis, V. (2014). Fouling and cleaning of ultrafiltration membranes: A review. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, 1, 121–138.

- Shirazi, S., Lin, C.-J., & Chen, D. (2010). Inorganic fouling of pressure-driven membrane processes—a critical review. *Desalination*, 250(1), 236–248.
- Siembida, B., Cornel, P., Krause, S., & Zimmermann, B. (2010). Effect of mechanical cleaning with granular material on the permeability of submerged membranes in the mbr process. *Water research*, 44(14), 4037–4046.
- Sijimol, M. & Joseph, S. (2021). Constructed wetland systems for greywater treatment and reuse: A review. *International Journal of Energy and Water Resources*, 5(3), 357–369.
- Singh, V., Kaur, A., Ghawana, T., & Gupta, N. (2018). Feasibility study of treatment technologies for greywater to enhance water security. *International Journal of Applied Engineering Research*, 13(6), 4042–4048.
- Skambraks, A.-K., Kjerstadius, H., Meier, M., Davidsson, Å., Wuttke, M., & Giese, T. (2017). Source separation sewage systems as a trend in urban wastewater management: drivers for the implementation of pilot areas in northern europe. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 28, 287–296.
- Sohail, N., Ahmed, S., Chung, S., & Nawaz, M. S. (2020). Performance comparison of three different reactors (mbbr, mbr and mbbmr) for municipal wastewater treatment.
- Sohail, N., Riedel, R., Dorneanu, B., & Arellano-Garcia, H. (2023). Prolonging the life span of membrane in submerged mbr by the application of different anti-biofouling techniques. *Membranes*, 13(2), 217.
- Song, J., Wu, H., Yuan, H., Wu, J., Qi, W., Lu, J., Li, W., & Li, Y.-Y. (2022). Reclamation of pharmaceutical wastewater by uaf, contact oxidation, and auto brush-cleaning aiding nano zro2 coated ceramic membrane mbr-an industrial-scale practice and functional microbial diversity. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, 46, 102563.
- Sooväli, L., Rõõm, E.-I., Kütt, A., Kaljurand, I., & Leito, I. (2006). Uncertainty sources in uv-vis spectrophotometric measurement. *Accreditation and quality assurance*, 11, 246–255.
- Steduto, P., Faurès, J.-M., Hoogeveen, J., Winpenny, J., & Burke, J. (2012). Coping with water scarcity: an action framework for agriculture and food security. *Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations*.
- Tang, K., Xie, J., Pan, Y., Zou, X., Sun, F., Yu, Y., Xu, R., Jiang, W., & Chen, C. (2022). The optimization and regulation of energy consumption for mbr process: A critical review. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, (pp. 108406).
- Tarre, S. & Green, M. (2004). High-rate nitrification at low ph in suspended-and attached-biomass reactors. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 70(11), 6481–6487.
- Thaher, R. A., Mahmoud, N., Al-Khatib, I. A., & Hung, Y.-T. (2020). Reasons of acceptance and barriers of house onsite greywater treatment and reuse in palestinian rural areas. *Water*, 12(6), 1679.

- Tilve, M. M. (2014). Seasonal variation in greywater quality for a real life system. *Inter. J. Res. Engg. Tech*, 3(3), 768–770.
- Torretta, V., Urbini, G., Raboni, M., Copelli, S., Viotti, P., Luciano, A., & Mancini, G. (2013). Effect of powdered activated carbon to reduce fouling in membrane bioreactors: A sustainable solution. case study. *Sustainability*, 5(4), 1501–1509.
- Trinh, T. A., Li, W., & Chew, J. W. (2020). Internal fouling during microfiltration with foulants of different surface charges. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 602, 117983.
- UN (2017). The united nations world water development report: Wastewater, the untapped resource. *United Nations World Water Assessment Programme*.
- UN (2020). Water and climate change. *The United Nations World Water Development Report; UNESCO: Paris, France.*
- UN (2022). Water prominent on COP27 agenda. United Nations (UN). https://www.un.org/ sustainabledevelopment/blog/2022/11/water-prominent-on-cop27-agenda/.
- Van den Broeck, R., Van Dierdonck, J., Nijskens, P., Dotremont, C., Krzeminski, P., Van der Graaf, J., Van Lier, J., Van Impe, J., & Smets, I. (2012). The influence of solids retention time on activated sludge bioflocculation and membrane fouling in a membrane bioreactor (mbr). *Journal of Membrane Science*, 401, 48–55.
- Van Gils, W., Lamote, A., & Carels, K. (2023). Advies over het ontwerpbesluit van de Vlaamse Regering houdende reglementering inzake de kwaliteit en de productie, de levering en het gebruik van teruggewonnen water. Number 2023–017. Emis Vito. https://emis.vito.be/nl/node/ 104228.
- van Loosdrecht, M. & Jetten, M. (1998). Microbiological conversions in nitrogen removal. *Water Science and technology*, 38(1), 1–7.
- van Loosdrecht, M. C., Nielsen, P. H., Lopez-Vazquez, C. M., & Brdjanovic, D. (2016). *Experimental methods in wastewater treatment*. IWA publishing.
- Visvanathan, C. (2009). Treatment of industrial wastewater by membrane bioreactors. *Waste Water Treat. Technol. II*, (pp.76).
- VLAIO (2022). Grijswaterrecuperatie: eerst douchen, dan doorspoelen. https://www.vlaio.be/ nl/ondernemersverhalen/grijswaterrecuperatie-eerst-douchen-dan-doorspoelen.
- VMM (2019). Drinkwatervoorziening in Vlaanderen: organisatie en een blik vooruit. Number D/2019/6871/009. Vlaamse Milieumaatschappij (VMM). https://www.vmm.be/ water/drinkwater/drinkwatervoorziening\_in\_vlaanderen\_organisatie\_en\_een\_ blik\_vooruit\_tw.pdf.
- Voulvoulis, N. (2018). Water reuse from a circular economy perspective and potential risks from an unregulated approach. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science & Health*, 2, 32–45.

- Vuppaladadiyam, A. K., Merayo, N., Prinsen, P., Luque, R., Blanco, A., & Zhao, M. (2019). A review on greywater reuse: quality, risks, barriers and global scenarios. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology*, 18, 77–99.
- Vymazal, J. (2010). Constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment. Water, 2(3), 530-549.
- Wang, F. & Tarabara, V. V. (2008). Pore blocking mechanisms during early stages of membrane fouling by colloids. *Journal of colloid and interface science*, 328(2), 464–469.
- Warsinger, D. M., Chakraborty, S., Tow, E. W., Plumlee, M. H., Bellona, C., Loutatidou, S., Karimi, L., Mikelonis, A. M., Achilli, A., & Ghassemi, A. (2018). A review of polymeric membranes and processes for potable water reuse. *Progress in polymer science*, 81, 209–237.
- Wiel-Shafran, A., Ronen, Z., Weisbrod, N., Adar, E., & Gross, A. (2006). Potential changes in soil properties following irrigation with surfactant-rich greywater. *Ecological Engineering*, 26(4), 348–354.
- Winward, G. P., Avery, L. M., Frazer-Williams, R., Pidou, M., Jeffrey, P., Stephenson, T., & Jefferson, B. (2008). A study of the microbial quality of grey water and an evaluation of treatment technologies for reuse. *Ecological engineering*, 32(2), 187–197.
- WMO (2022). Action for water adaptation and resilience initiative launched. World Meteorological Organization (WMO). <u>https://public.wmo.int/en/media/news/</u> action-water-adaptation-and-resilience-initiative-launched.
- World Bank (2016). High and dry: Climate change, water, and the economy. The World Bank.
- Wu, B. (2019). Membrane-based technology in greywater reclamation: A review. *Science of the total environment*, 656, 184–200.
- Wu, J., Chen, F., Huang, X., Geng, W., & Wen, X. (2006). Using inorganic coagulants to control membrane fouling in a submerged membrane bioreactor. *Desalination*, 197(1-3), 124–136.
- Xiao, K., Abbt-Braun, G., & Horn, H. (2020). Changes in the characteristics of dissolved organic matter during sludge treatment: A critical review. *Water research*, 187, 116441.
- Yao, W., Wang, Z., & Song, P. (2018). The cake layer formation in the early stage of filtration in mbr: Mechanism and model. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 559, 75–86.
- Yoonus, H. & Al-Ghamdi, S. G. (2020). Environmental performance of building integrated grey water reuse systems based on life-cycle assessment: A systematic and bibliographic analysis. *Science of The Total Environment*, 712, 136535.
- Yusuf, Z., Abdul Wahab, N., & Sahlan, S. (2016). Fouling control strategy for submerged membrane bioreactor filtration processes using aeration airflow, backwash, and relaxation: A review. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 57(38), 17683–17695.
- Zadeh, S. M., Hunt, D. V., Lombardi, D. R., & Rogers, C. D. (2013). Shared urban greywater recycling systems: water resource savings and economic investment. *Sustainability*, 5(7), 2887–2912.

Zeifman, L., Hertog, S., Kantorova, V., & Wilmoth, J. (2022). A world of 8 billion.

- Zhang, J., Zhou, J., Liu, Y., & Fane, A. G. (2010). A comparison of membrane fouling under constant and variable organic loadings in submerge membrane bioreactors. *Water Research*, 44(18), 5407–5413.
- Zhang, X., Chen, N., Sheng, H., Ip, C., Yang, L., Chen, Y., Sang, Z., Tadesse, T., Lim, T. P. Y., & Rajabifard, A. (2019). Urban drought challenge to 2030 sustainable development goals. *Science of the Total Environment*, 693, 133536.
- Zhongming, Z., Linong, L., Xiaona, Y., Wangqiang, Z., & Wei, L. (2021). Un world water development report 2021 'valuing water'. *UN Water: Geneva, Switzerland*.
- Zhu, J., Wagner, M., Cornel, P., Chen, H., & Dai, X. (2018). Feasibility of on-site grey-water reuse for toilet flushing in china. *Journal of Water Reuse and Desalination*, 8(1), 1–13.
- Ziemba, C., Larivé, O., Reynaert, E., & Morgenroth, E. (2018). Chemical composition, nutrientbalancing and biological treatment of hand washing greywater. *Water research*, 144, 752–762.
- Zinatizadeh, A. & Ghaytooli, E. (2015). Simultaneous nitrogen and carbon removal from wastewater at different operating conditions in a moving bed biofilm reactor (mbbr): process modeling and optimization. *Journal of the Taiwan Institute of Chemical Engineers*, 53, 98–111.
- Zuma, B. M., Tandlich, R., Whittington-Jones, K. J., & Burgess, J. E. (2009). Mulch tower treatment system part i: Overall performance in greywater treatment. *Desalination*, 242(1-3), 38–56.

# APPENDIX A **ADDITIONAL TABLE**

**Table A.1:** Brands of the personal care products and chemicals used in the preparation of synthetic greywater.

Component	Brand
Personal care products	
Dishwashing detergent	Trio Tumyeonghan Saenggak
Liquid laundry	LiQ Baking Soda Concentrated Gel
Shampoo	Elastine Propolithera Anti Aging Care
Shaving gel	Gillette Fusion Hydra Gel Sensitive Skin
Shower gel	ON:THEBODY Ultra Moisture Cotton Flower Scent
Toothpaste	2080 Ginghivalis Original
Chemicals	
Ammonium chloride	
Calcium chloride	
Potassium phosphate dibasic	
Sodium acetate	Daejung (reagent grade)
Sodium bicarbonate	
Sodium chloride	
Sodium sulfate	